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Corporate Information
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENmE DM

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of cross-border business  AREE X 2R ERHEEBEKALIRHBEEE ME AR

BUSINESS REVIEW B
and provision of finance leasing and consultancy service. 7% o
1.  Cross-border business 1.

The Group commenced its cross-border business since 2017, and
expands its cross-border business under the S2B2C and B2C model.
The S2B2C model is to provide value-added service to e-commerce
distributors and/or end consumers in the PRC by (i) securing a
cross-border e-commerce platform that integrates overseas direct
procurement, import and export supply chain management; and (ii)
leasing of several bonded warehouses, which allows the Group to
efficiently import products into the PRC and maintain inventory to
respond to customer orders in a swift manner, while providing custom
clearance, warehouse storage and logistics assistance to its customers
to strengthen its competitive edge.

The B2C model allows the Group to directly advertise and offer its
products to end-consumers. The Group believed that the B2C model
could diversify the source of income generated from its cross-border
business segment.

2.  Provision of finance leasing and consultancy service 2.

The finance leasing business has been one of the principal businesses
of the Group since 2014. The Group is from time to time looking for
suitable opportunities to expand its finance leasing business.

The Group’s finance leasing and consultancy service are mainly
conducted in the following ways:

(i) Direct finance leasing

Direct finance leasing generally involves the Group acquiring
machinery or equipment directly from the supplier at the
instruction of the Group’s customer, which is then leased to
the customer of the Group. The customer will then repay the
financing amount, interest and handling fee to the Group in
monthly instalments. The financing amount granted by the Group
will usually be determined based on the purchase price of the
machinery or equipment and the customer’s creditworthiness
and ability to repay. Upon the expiry of the lease term and full
repayment of the lease payment, the ownership of the machinery
or equipment will be transferred to the customer at a nominal
price. In direct finance leasing, although the Group has legal
ownership to the machinery or equipment underlying the lease
during the lease term, substantially all the risks and rewards
of the ownership are transferred to the customer through
contractual relationship between the Group and the customer.

FEESmMERBERAT / F3R2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE T

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

2.

Provision of finance leasing and consultancy service

(continued)

(ii) Sale and leaseback
Sale and leaseback typically involves a customer selling its
owned machinery or equipment to the Group and the Group then
lease back such machinery or equipment to this customer. This
form of finance leasing is primarily used by customers who need
working capital to fund their business operation. The customer
will then repay the financing amount, interest and handling fee to
the Group in monthly instalments. The financing amount granted
by the Group will usually be determined based on the purchase
price and depreciation of the machinery or equipment and the
customer’s creditworthiness and ability to repay. Upon the expiry
of the lease term and full repayment of the lease payment, the
ownership of the machinery or equipment will be transferred
back to the customer at a nominal price. In sale and leaseback
transaction, although the Group has legal ownership to the
machinery or equipment underlying the lease during the lease
term, substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership
are transferred to the customer through contractual relationship
between the Group and the customer.

The Group’s finance leasing and consultancy service team (the “Team”),
with solid experience in finance lease and medical equipment sector,
obtains information regarding upcoming potential pipeline projects
from manufacturers, distributors, banks and other financial institutions.
Upon obtaining such information, the Team will approach the potential
customers for discussions and conduct due diligence for potential
finance leasing cooperation, by ways of direct finance leasing or sales
and leaseback.

Details for major terms of finance leasing as at 31 December 2024,
including total outstanding finance lease receivables, maturity profile,
interest rates, collaterals and/or guarantee obtained, are set out in note
19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Team will perform (i) background assessment; (i) financial capability
and repayment ability assessment; (i) credit assessment; (iv) guarantor
background assessment; (v) subject matter assessment; and (vi)
industry assessment, in the assessment of the credit risks of customers.
The Group’s approval process includes due diligence, feasibility study,
verification and credit risk assessment. For the monitory of each
outstanding finance lease contract, the Team will records the ledger,
issue payment reminders, closely follow up instalments, maintain
communication with customers to follow up overdue instalments (if
any), and commence appropriate proceedings to recover outstanding
instalments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEREN WD

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

2.  Provision of finance leasing and consultancy service

(continued)

Due to the stringent procedures adopted by the Group in taking
new customers on board, there was no default in repayment since
the commencement of the Group’s finance leasing business. The
accumulated impairment losses on finance lease receivables as at
31 December 2024 amounted to HK$Nil (2023: HK$12,000) was
provided by reference to the historical repayment pattern of the
Group’s finance lease debtors and certain other factors, including
forward-looking elements, as to comply the requirements of HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments. Movements of the accumulated impairment
losses on finance lease receivables during the year ended 31 December
2024 represent the net of: (1) decrease in outstanding finance lease
receivables as compared to 31 December 2023; and (2) certain delays
in repayments were recorded during the year ended 31 December
2024 (which were fully-recovered during the year ended 31 December
2024), which impacted the calculation of expected credit loss. The
directors are of the view that the fact that no default in repayment has
been recorded in respect of the finance lease business of the Group
demonstrates that the internal control procedures for taking new
customers/projects on board and the monitoring procedures are sound
and effective.

In summary, during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had made
strategic tailor-made arrangements to support the Group’s position as follows:
(i) it introduced new customers and suppliers; (i) it strengthened product lines
and platform for products; (i) it improved operations and reducing operating
costs; and (iv) it solicited new financing facilities in the market to support and
strengthen the businesses and operations of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the Year, cross-border business segment recorded a segment revenue of
approximately HK$630.0 million (2023: HK$761.3 million), showing a decrease
of 17.2% comparing with last year. Finance leasing business segment
recorded a segment revenue of approximately HK$0.1 million (2023: HK$0.3
million), showing a decrease of 66.7% comparing with last year.

The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in cross-border trading
business of nutrition food and health care products.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The Group’s cost of sales during the Reporting Period decrease by 15.8% to
approximately HK$599.3 million compared to the year ended 31 December
2023 (the “Corresponding Period”) which was driven by the decrease in
revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit (Continued)

The gross profit margin of the Group decreased from approximately 6.6% for
the Corresponding Period to approximately 4.9% for the Reporting Period.
The gross profit had decreased by 38.5% to approximately HK$30.9 million
compared to the Corresponding Period due to the decrease in revenue.
The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly because the Group offer
more competitive prices to the customers under the current intense market
competition.

Expenses

The administrative and other expenses accounted for the largest portion of the
operating cost. The administrative and other expenses decreased by 28.5% to
approximately HK$8.8 million when compared to the Corresponding Period,
which is mainly because of the decrease of revenue and relevant operating
cost.

Tax

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax Regime, one of the Company’s Hong Kong
subsidiaries is subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 8.25%
for the first HK$2 million of its estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on its estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. Other Hong Kong
subsidiaries not qualifying for the two-tiered Profit Tax Regime are subjected
to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 16.5% for the Year.

The tax rate applicable to the Group’s PRC subsidiaries was 25% (2023: 25%)
during the Year.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded a net loss for the Year of approximately HK$23.3 million
as compared with a net profit of approximately HK$19.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The turnaround from profit to loss was primarily
attributable to (i) decrease in cross-border trading business of nutrition
food and health care products; and (i) increase impairment loss on trade
receivables.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group had total cash and bank balances of approximately HK$3.6 million
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$24.3 million). The current ratio (defined
as current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group as at 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023 was 1.25 times and 1.76 times respectively. As
at 31 December 2024, the cash and cash equivalents held by the Group were
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Renminbi (‘RMB”) and
United States dollars (‘US$”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEREN WD

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE (continued)

At 31 December 2024, the total borrowings of the Group were approximately
HK$200.8 million (2023: HK$153.3 million) which comprised (i) loan from the
ultimate holding company of HK$50 million (2023: HK$50 million); (i) bank and
other borrowings of HK$6.6 million (2023: HK$17.8 million); (iii) promissory
note of HK$91.6 million (2023: HK$33.8 million); (iv) corporate bonds of
HK$51.5 million (2023: HK$51.2 million); and (v) lease liabilities of HK$1.1
million (2023: HK$0.5 million) respectively.

The loan from the ultimate holding company is carried at fixed interest rate of
9.5% (2023: 9.5%) per annum and repayable on demand.

The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in RMB, repayable in one year
and bearing a fixed interest of 9% (2023: 9.0%) per annum.

Pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 14 June 2019 and the
supplemental agreement dated 17 June 2019, the Company issued
convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of HK$39,000,000 with
5% interest per annum three-year lifespan on 24 June 2019. Assuming full
conversion of the Convertible Bonds at the initial conversion price of HK$0.2,
the Convertible Bonds will be convertible into 195,000,000 conversion
shares. Details are disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 14
June 2019, 17 June 2019 and 24 June 2019. The gross proceeds from the
subscription of the Convertible Bonds was approximately HK$39 million and
the net proceeds was approximately HK$38.7 million. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the outstanding principal and interest of the Convertible
Bonds was reclassified to corporate bonds and no share was converted. The
Company and the bondholder had mutually agreed to extend the maturity
date to 24 June 2025.

On 3 March 2025, the Company received a statutory demand (the “3 March
2025 Statutory Demand”) from the solicitors firm acting for a holder of
the convertible bonds of the Company demanding the Company to pay
an amount of HK$50,881,644, being the outstanding principal amount
of the convertible bonds of the Company and interests on the aforesaid
outstanding principal amount. Subsequently in June 2025, the convertible
bond holder issued a letter to the Stock Exchange and stated that, among
others, its disputes with the Company in relation to the convertible bonds of
the Company is a misunderstanding caused by the convertible bond holder
and it is going to immediately withdraw the 3 March 2025 Statutory Demand.
Subsequently, the convertible bond holder has issued a letter to the Company
to officially withdraw the 3 March 2025 Statutory Demand.

The Group’s corporate bonds were unsecured and bearing interest ranging

from 5% to 7% per annum. As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balance
of corporate bonds are fully repayable within one year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE T

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE (continued)

In June 2019, the Company issued a promissory note in a principal amount
of HK$10,000,000 with an interest rate of 3% per annum and a maturity of
2 years to an independent third party (the “PN10M”). The net proceeds of
approximately HK$10 million was intended to be used for working capital. As
at 31 December 2024, approximately HK$10 million was used as working
capital as intended and the maturity of the PN10M had been extended to June
2025.

In March 2021, the Company issued a promissory note in principal amount of
HK$3,000,000 with an interest rate of 4% per annum and a maturity of 2 years
to an independent third party (the “PN3M”). The proceeds of approximately
HK$3 million was intended to be used for working capital and/or repaying
liabilities. As at the date of this report, approximately HK$3 million was used
as intended and the maturity of the PN3M had been extended to March 2025.

In April 2021, the Company issued a promissory note in principal amount of
HK$9,000,000 with an interest rate of 3% per annum and a maturity of 1 year
which can be extended to another 1 year with mutual written consent to an
independent third party (the “PN9M”). The proceeds of approximately HK$9
million was intended to be used for working capital and/or repaying liabilities.
As at the date of this report, approximately HK$9 million was used as intended
and the maturity of the PNOM had been extended to April 2025.

In July 2021, the Company issued a promissory note in principal amount of
HK$12,000,000 with an interest rate of 3% per annum and a maturity of 1
year which can be extended to another 1 year with mutual written consent
to an independent third party (the “PN12M”). The proceeds of approximately
HK$12 million was intended to be used for working capital and/or repaying
liabilities. As at the date of this report, approximately HK$12 million was used
as intended and the maturity of the PN12M had been extended to July 2025.

In June 2024, the Company issued a promissory note in principal amount of
HK$5,000,000 with an interest rate of 3% per annum to an independent third
party (the “PN5M”). The proceeds of approximately HK$5 million was intended
to be used for working capital and/or repaying liabilities. As at the date of this
report, approximately HK$5 million was used as intended and the maturity of
the PN5M will be due and payable in June 2025.

The Company received a letter (the “Demand Letter”) dated 16 September
2024 and issued by the holder of the promissory notes (the “PN Holder”) with
the aggregate principal amount of HK$20 million issued by the Company (the
“Promissory Note”), which was addressed to the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEREN WD

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE (continued)

It was stated in the Demand Letter that (among other things):

i) there is a material adverse change in the financial condition of the
Company as the consolidated net profit for the six months ended 30
June 2024 has been significantly decreased; and

(ii) the PN Holder demand the immediate repayment of the total
outstanding sum of approximately HK$20.3 million (the “Outstanding
Sum”) in relation to the Promissory Note within 14 days of the date of
the Demand Letter.

As at 30 June 2024, the Company had an outstanding trade and other
payables of approximately HK$214.1 million, loan from ultimate holding
company of approximately HK$50.0 million, bank and other borrowings of
approximately HK$16.0 million, promissory note of approximately HK$39.3
million and corporate bonds of approximately HK$50.5 million, while the bank
balances and cash amounted to approximately HK$12.2 million. Based on
the above, the board of directors of the Company were of the view that the
Company may not be able to repay the Outstanding Sum by the date as
demanded in the Demand Letter.

Subsequently, the Company received a statutory demand (the “10 October
2024 Statutory Demand”) dated 10 October 2024 from the legal adviser
acting on behalf of the PN Holder pursuant to Section 327(4)(a) of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter
32 of Laws of Hong Kong), demanding the Company to pay the amount of
HK$20,316,438, being the principal amount of the Promissory Note issued
by the Company to the PN Holder together with interest accrued thereon,
within 3 weeks from the date of the service of the 10 October 2024 Statutory
Demand, failing which the PN Holder may present a winding up petition
against the Company.

After the receipt of the 10 October 2024 Statutory Demand received by the
Company on 10 October 2024, a creditor who has continued to provide
financial support to the Company for business development and daily
operation of the Group by way of financial advance (the “Advance”) since
12 August 2021 to 31 July 2024, demanded the immediate repayment of the
Advance. In view of the limited financial resources, the Company, at its best
endeavor, negotiated with the creditor. On 12 October 2024, the Company
reached the agreement with the creditor and issue a promissory note in the
principal amount of HK$51,250,000 which carries an interest rate of 3% per
annum to the creditor to settle the Advance.

After the receipt of the 10 October 2024 Statutory Demand received by the
Company on 10 October 2024, the Company received a demand letter (the
“Second Demand Letter”) dated 14 October 2024 issued by the holder of
the promissory notes (the “Second PN Holder”) with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$9 million issued by the Company (the “Second Promissory
Note”), which was addressed to the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE T

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE (continued)

It was stated in the Second Demand Letter that (among other things):

(i) as a result of the 10 October 2024 Statutory Demand received by the
Company, the Second PN Holder believes the Company had failed
to repay the Promissory Note as demanded in the 10 October 2024
Statutory Demand, which constitutes an event of default under the
Second Promissory Note; and

(ii) the Second PN Holder demand the immediate repayment of the total
outstanding sum of approximately HK$9.2 million in relation to the
Second Promissory Note within 7 days of the date of the Second
Demand Letter.

On 18 October 2024 (after trading hours), the Company entered into a
settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) (supplemented by
a supplemental agreement dated 31 December 2024) with the relevant
creditors in relation to a debt restructuring, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to capitalise the outstanding debt of HK$91,534,164
owed to the relevant creditors by the Company as at 15 October 2024, the
relevant creditors has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company
has conditionally agreed to issue the 3% unsecured convertible bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$91,534,164 to the relevant creditors.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2025,
the issuance of the convertible bonds under the Settlement Agreement would
result in a theoretical dilution effect of approximately 61.06%, which is higher
than the 25% threshold as set out in Rule 7.27B of the Listing Rules. Pursuant
to the Settlement Agreement, the completion of the Settlement Agreement
is conditional upon the satisfaction of, among other things, the consent from
the Stock Exchange in respect of Rule 7.27B of the Listing Rules. In view of
Rule 7.27B of the Listing Rules, the Company had been negotiating with the
relevant creditors for adjusting the conversion price of the convertible bonds.
However, no agreement could be reached with the relevant creditors in this
regard. In light of the above, the conditions precedent under the Settlement
Agreement are not expected to be fulfilled. Accordingly, on 28 March 2025,
the Company and the relevant creditors entered into a termination agreement
to terminate the Settlement Agreement with immediate effect.

For more details of the above incidents, please refer to the announcements of

the Company dated 17 September 2024, 10 October 2024, 14 October 2024,
8 January 2025, 3 February 2025, 28 February 2025 and 28 March 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEREN WD

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE (continued)

Apart from the borrowings of approximately HK$1.7 million (2023: HK$1.7
million) which were secured personal guarantee provided by certain director
of a subsidiary and corporate guarantee provided by a subsidiary, others were
unsecured. Short-term borrowings amounted to approximately HK$200.3
million (2023: HK$77.7 million), while others were long-term borrowings due
after one year.

In order to support and expand the cross-border business, the Group will
strive to diversify its financing sources and explore fund raising opportunities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2024.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio was 52.1% as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 37.0%). The
gearing ratio is arrived at by dividing the total external financing debt by total
assets at the end of the corresponding year.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, assets in the net book value of HK$160,000
(held under finance lease arrangement) of the Group had been pledged
(2023: HK$220,000).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the Year, the Group incurred approximately HK$Nil (2023: HK$Nil) on the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has contracted commitment for capital

contribution to investees amounting to approximately HK$10.4 million
(2023: HK$10.8 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE T

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

In respect of the cross-border business, the Group is mainly exposed to the
currency risk of HK$/US$/RMB, the Group considers its exposure to foreign
currency risk is primarily in the fluctuation of RMB against HK$/US$ and HK$
against RMB.

In respect of the finance leasing business, the Group’s receipts, payments and
operating expenses are all transacted in RMB, in which the Group expects the
currency risks would be insignificant.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. The
Group will monitor its foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare any final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year, as far as the Group is aware, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by our Group that has
a significant impact on the business and operations of our Group.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has a total workforce of 16 employees
(2023: 29) in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Remuneration policies of the Group are determined with reference to
performance, qualification and experience of the staff as well as the operating
results of the Group and the current market condition with salaries and wages
being reviewed on an annual basis. The Group also provides discretionary
bonus, medical insurance, social security and provident fund to the staff of the
Group.

14

HNE LB
REEEBME  ARMEEARBT ET/ ARBHE

KRk AEERLSEEBENIMNERREZ/ARELE
T/ ETRB T ARKKRBEE -

HEMEHEXBM = - ARESNRA - SHAREER Y
NARKR S - BAKEEHEERRMTRE

AR BRI ERIRER - AN SR S 1) BE R S [
B AHERBEATE BRI ERMINERER -
RERE

BESRETTIREE2024512 A31 B I EEREMK
HAPG B (2023 4 « &) -

BFEREEER
RAFER - RAREAN - AEELERSERAKMLY

SPERBERERERRE - RAHTNEEMNER L2 ERK
EPNCIEZ

EERFMBER

MR2024F 12 A1 H  AEBMUEERTRHELSAE164
(20234 : 29Z)BT »

AEENFHBRE2RBE THTHERR - EERER - A
EAEENSEFEREMMAMET  RFLREINHD
RTEFERR - REBETRAER TRHEBIGEAL - BERFE
B HEREESRAES -

Momentum Financial Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEREN WD

MATERIAL EVENTS

Strategic Cooperation Agreement

On 27 May 2024, the Company entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement ("Strategic Cooperation Agreement") with Shenzhen Yuanshijie
Technology Co., Limited* (RIIT TR A BB R A al) (“Yuanshijie”), a
company established under the laws of the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) which mainly operates the business of software development, data
analysis and development of artificial intelligence technology. The Strategic
Cooperation Agreement shall be effective for a term of one year.

Pursuant to Strategic Cooperation Agreement, the Company and Yuanshijie
will cooperate on various matters including but not limited to research and
development on artificial intelligence technology and respective software
development and its applications in cross-border business, financial and
other areas. The Company and Yuanshijie will also explore the use of big data
to enhance our competitiveness and upgrade our services in cross-border
business. The Strategic Cooperation Agreement represents the intention of the
parties to cooperate only and does not have any legal effect. As of the date of
this report, no legal binding agreement has been signed by the Company with
Yuanshijie.

The Board is of the view that entering into the Strategic Cooperation
Agreement will enable the Company to leverage on the strength, resources
and experience of Yuanshijie as a software development, data analysis and
development of artificial intelligence technology company in the PRC to (i)
broaden the Company’s business mix; (i) enhance our competitiveness
and upgrade our services in cross-border business; and (iii) maximise the
Company’s business values and the interest of the shareholders of the
Company.

For details of the Strategic Cooperation Agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 27 May 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE T

MATERIAL EVENTS (continued)

Changes in Board and Board Committees Composition and Non-
Compliance

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 26
June 2024 and 27 June 2024 (“Announcements”) in relation to, among
others, (i) the retirement of executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors, (i) the change of composition of board committees, and (i) the non-
compliance with the Listing Rules and terms of reference of board committees.
Unless otherwise defined, capitalised terms used herein shall have the same
meanings as used in the Announcements.

As disclosed in the Announcements, Mr. Zhou Yihong (“Mr. Zhou YH”),
Ms. Huang Chunlian (“Ms. Huang”), Mr. Zhou Zhencun (“Mr. Zhou ZC”)
and Mr. Chen Yongping (“Mr. Chen”) retired at the AGM held on 26 June
2024 in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company. As the resolutions
for re-election of Mr. Zhou YH, Ms. Huang, Mr. Zhou ZC and Mr. Chen were
not approved by the Shareholders at the AGM, Mr. Zhou YH has retired as
an executive Director and each of Ms. Huang, Mr. Zhou ZC and Mr. Chen
has retired as an independent non-executive Director with effect from the
conclusion of the AGM (the “Retirement”). Following the Retirement:

(i) Mr. Zhou YH has ceased to be a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company and the Nomination Committee of the
Company;

(ii) Ms. Huang has ceased to be a chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company and
the Nomination Committee

(iii) Mr. Zhou ZC has ceased to be a chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee; and

(iv)  Mr. Chen has ceased to be a chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee.

Moreover, following the Retirement:

(i) the number of independent non-executive Directors fell below the
minimum number required under Rules 3.10 of the Listing Rules;

(ii) the Board comprises one executive Director. As such, the number of
independent non-executive Directors fell below one-third of the Board

as required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules;

(i) the number of members of the Audit Committee fell below the minimum
number required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEREN WD

MATERIAL EVENTS (continued)

Changes in Board and Board Committees Composition and Non-
Compliance (continued)
Moreover, following the Retirement: (continued)

(iv)  the composition the Remuneration Committee failed to meet the
requirements Under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules;

(V) the composition the Nomination Committee failed to meet the
requirements under rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules;

(vi)  the number of members of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee fell below the minimum
number required under the respective terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee; and

(vii)  the number of Directors fell below the minimum number required under
bye-law no. 83(1) of the bye-laws of the Company.

Following the Retirement and at the request of the Company, trading in the
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange has been halted with effect
from 9:41 a.m. on 27 June 2024, pending the release of the announcement
dated 27 June 2024 containing inside information of the Company in relation
to the retirement of Directors. The trading in the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange resumed from 9:00 a.m. on 28 June 2024.

Following the Retirement, the new independent non-executive Director, Mr.
Sin Ka Man, has been appointed with effect from 29 August 2024, who is also
appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of both the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Referring to the announcement of the Company dated 30 August 2024,
following the appointment of Mr. Sin Ka Man, there were two Directors on the
Board and only one of them serves on the Audit Committee as its chairman.
As such, the Audit Committee lacked the necessary quorum to convene a
meeting to approve the 2024 interim results and 2024 interim report of the
Group. As a result, additional time was required for restoring the functionality
of the Audit Committee. Therefore, the publications of the 2024 interim results
of the Group and this report was delayed. Pursuant to Rule 13.50 of the
Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange will normally require suspension of trading
in an issuer’s securities if an issuer fails to publish periodic financial information
in accordance with the Listing Rules, and the suspension will normally remain
in force until the issuer publishes an announcement containing the requisite
financial information. Accordingly, trading in the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange was suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 2 September
2024 until the announcement in relation to the 2024 interim results of the
Group was published by the Company on 15 September 2024. Trading in the
Shares on the Stock Exchange was resumed with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 16
September 2024.
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MATERIAL EVENTS (continued)

Changes in Board and Board Committees Composition and Non-
Compliance (continued)

With effect from 2 September 2024, Ms. Liang Lina has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director, the chairperson of the Nomination
Committee and a member of both the Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee. With effect from 3 September 2024, Mr. Chen Yifan has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of both the Nomination Committee
and the Audit Committee.

Following the appointment of Mr. Chen Yifan, the Board comprises four
members, including one executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. As such:

(i) the number of Directors meets the minimum number required under
bye-law no. 83(1) of the bye-laws of the Company;

(ii) the number of independent non-executive Directors fulfills the
requirement of at least one-third of the Board under Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules;

(i) the number of independent non-executive Directors has reached the
minimum number required under Rules 3.10 of the Listing Rules;

(iv)  the number of members of the Audit Committee has reached the
minimum number required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules;

(V) the composition the Remuneration Committee fuffills the requirements
under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules;

(v the composition the Nomination Committee fulfills the requirements
under Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules; and

(vii)  the number of members of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee has reached the minimum
number required under their respective terms of reference.

Trading Suspensions and Resumptions
The following is a description of the trading suspensions and resumptions of
the Company during the Year and up to the date of this report:

Trading in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) on the Stock Exchange
was halted with effect from 9:41 a.m. on 27 June 2024, pending the release of
the inside information of the Company in relation to the retirement of directors
of the Company on 26 June 2024. Trading in the Shares on the Stock
Exchange was resumed with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 28 June 2024.
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BEEREN WD

MATERIAL EVENTS (continued)
Trading Suspensions and Resumptions (continued)

Due to the delay in the publication of the announcement of the 2024 interim
results by the Company, trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange
was suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 2 September 2024 until the
publication of the announcement of the 2024 interim results by the Company
on 15 September 2024. Trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange was
resumed with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 16 September 2024.

Trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange was suspended with effect
from 17 September 2024 pending the publication of inside information
announcement in relation to the receipt of a demand letter by the Company
on 16 September 2024. Trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange was
resumed with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 19 September 2024.

Trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange was suspended with effect
from 9:00 a.m. on 21 October 2024 pending the publication of an inside
information announcement in relation to, among others, (i) the proposed debt
restructuring involving issue of convertible bonds under specific mandate; (i)
application of whitewash waiver, and (i) special deal in relation to the payment
of shareholder’s loan. Trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange was
resumed with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 9 January 2025.

Trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange was suspended with effect from
9:00 a.m. on 10 March 2025 pending the publication of an inside information
announcement in relation to, among others, the receipt of a statutory demand
by the Company on 3 March 2025. Trading in the Shares on the Stock
Exchange was resumed with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 11 March 2025.

Due to the delay in the publication of the announcement of the 2024 annual
results by the Company, trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange was
suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 1 April 2025 until the publication
of the announcement of the 2024 annual results by the Company. The
announcement in relation to the 2024 annual results has now been published.
Nonetheless, at the request of the Company, trading in the Shares on
the Stock Exchange will continue to be halted pending the release of an
announcement in relation to inside information of the Company.

For details of the abovementioned trading suspensions and resumptions,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 27 June 2024, 30
August 2024, 16 September 2024, 17 September 2024, 18 October 2024,
8 January 2025, 10 March 2025, 27 March 2025, 1 April 2025 and 17 June
2025.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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BEENWE T

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the development of the debt restructuring proposed to be carried
out by the Company after the Reporting Period are set out under the heading
“Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure” on page 8 of this report.

Details of the receipt of statutory demand by the Company on 3 March 2025
and subsequent withdrawal of the statutory demand by the holder of the
relevant convertible bonds of the Company after the Reporting Period are set
out under the heading “Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure”
on page 9 of this report.

Details of the trading suspensions and resumptions of the Company after the
Reporting Period are set out under the heading “Trading Suspensions and
Resumptions” on page 18 of this report.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group'’s financial condition, results of operations, and business prospects
may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties directly or indirectly
pertaining to our Group’s businesses. The followings are the key risks
and uncertainties identified by our Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not known to our
Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in
the future.

Market Risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects ability to meet
business objectives arising from the movement in market prices, like foreign
exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices. The management of our
Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Foreign Exchange Rates Risk

As our Group’s assets and liabilities were mainly denominated in HK$, US$
and RMB, in view of the potential RMB exchange rate fluctuations, our Group
will continue to closely monitor the exposure and take any actions when
appropriate.

Interest Rate Risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group analyses its
interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and considers managing this risk in
a cost-effective manner when appropriate, through variety of means.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that our Group will be unable to meet its
obligations when they fall due because of an inability to obtain adequate
funding or liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk, our Group monitors
cash flows and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalent to
ensure the ability to finance the Group’s operations and reduce the effects of
fluctuation in cash flows.

20

BEPRBHEH

ARAFRN RS PRETHEFERERFEIRARES
B8R [MBER  UKERRERERE] -

RRAFR 202563 A3 HIRENEE B REBEREERAR
MR AR E SR A AR R E BREEETE ZREE Zﬁ
BHRAREFIE [RBET  UBERREREE] -

Tm

ZK’AEEC%&% Ry
=)

RREEEZF#BHENAREFE18
MEEE| —&

8
T
E

FERERETAREER

AEBMSBAN  SEXEEREBH R AIET ZEENE
BEBAEEIEERENRR I TRAERRZE - UTR
AEBEFREANEERR R TAERE - BRI XAdEIN -
AR EREERMK BN TBEANERRATEEBEKR

B EL At LB B A AR =%

™isEkE

ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ?ﬁlﬁ%ﬁ%(@%% CRIE R RRER) E )
HISSBFIEE N BiE B B RaE N R HK%IE’\JE
BEE f%&m%%&tﬁﬂﬁwi?% CHERER A BRI TEE S
E i ©

BE Rk

MR AERENEERABIZNET T RARKTHE
ENARBERAERE) - MAKE AT ERRBRA
T WNEERRIELTTE

IEL1
HEFEGRNERRIRENS @ AEEUBRELESTH
AENFIERRE - WREE Eﬁ%)@%ﬁiyﬁﬂﬁﬁzﬂi W K&
LEERILRR -

FHESER

nBETREBR AT EEREINEENESHEREENR
REBTHIMNMNREENEEY - EEERDE SRR
TEH - AREERRSRELERTMNRSRASEED
KFE - UHERBEN AR EENZERTES MEERDR
EREFHRNTE o

Momentum Financial Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024



Management Discussion and Analysis
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from external events. Responsibility for
managing operational risks basically rests with every function at divisional and
departmental levels.

Key functions in our Group are guided by their standard operating procedures,
limits of authority and reporting framework. Our management will identify and
assess key operational exposures regularly so that appropriate risk response
can be taken.

Investment Risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of occurrence of losses
relative to the expected return on any particular investment. Key concern
of investment framework will be balancing risk and return across different
investments, and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment
decision process.

Proper authorization system has been set up and detailed analysis will be
made before approving investments. Regular updates on the progress of the
investments of our Group would be submitted to the Board.

Manpower and Retention Risk

Our Group may face the risk of not being able to attract and retain key
personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills, experience and
competence which would meet the business objectives of our Group. Our
Group will provide attractive remuneration package to suitable candidates and
personnel.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

To maintain a sufficient level of operations and assets of sufficient value
to support its operations, the Group has been exploring ways to improve
its financial performance and to broaden the sources of revenue within
acceptable risk level. Hence, the Company does not rule out the possibility
of investing in or extending to other business as long as it is in the interest
of the Company and the shareholders as a whole. Meanwhile, the Company
does not preclude the possibility that the Company may implement debt and/
or equity fund raising plan(s) to satisfy the financing needs arising out of any
business development of the Group as well as to improve its financial position
in the event that suitable fund raising opportunities arise, as the Company
has from time to time been approached by investors for potential investment
projects. In these regards, the Company will publish announcement as and
when appropriate according to applicable rules and regulations.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECT

According to the latest market research data, the global cross-border
e-commerce market size is projected to exceed HK$18 trillion in 2025,
with China’s market share continuing to expand to approximately 62%.
The compound annual growth rate (CAGR) for cross-border transactions of
nutritional and healthcare products remains high at 28%, with particularly
explosive growth in demand for mid-to-high-end functional nutritional
supplements. The continuous improvement of Chinese consumers’ health
awareness, coupled with the formation of an aging social structure, is driving
the cross-border health industry into a golden period of development.

Hong Kong, as the central hub of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area, is undergoing comprehensive upgrades to its cross-
border e-commerce infrastructure under the “Digital Silk Road” initiative. The
implementation of the “Smart Port 3.0” system in 2025 will bring customs
clearance efficiency down to the minute, while the expanded cold chain
logistics capacity at Hong Kong International Airport further consolidates its
position as Asia-Pacific’s health product trading center. Against the backdrop
of deepening dual circulation (domestic and international), Hong Kong’s
distinctive free port policy and digital trade ecosystem are accelerating its
transformation from a traditional trade transit point into a global digital service
platform for health products.

The current market exhibits two distinctive characteristics: On one hand, the
deep integration of social commerce and content marketing has made health
product purchasing decisions more contextualized and emotion-driven. On
the other hand, the maturation of blockchain traceability and Al-powered
personalized recommendation technologies is transforming cross-border
shopping experiences from mere transactions to full-chain service upgrades.
With the full implementation of RCEP tariff benefits and the continuous
expansion of China’s cross-border e-commerce positive list, Hong Kong
enterprises possess unique strategic value in integrating global premium health
resources with China’s consumption upgrade demands. These structural
transformations will continue to reshape the cross-border health industry
ecosystem, creating broader development opportunities for companies with
omnichannel service capabilities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive director

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (“Mr. Chu”), aged 61, has been appointed as
an executive Director and Authorised Representative of the Company since 7
February 2025. Mr. Chu was the executive director of the Company from 13
August 2021 to 25 March 2022. He obtained legal advice on 7 February 2025
according to the requirements of Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, and has
confirmed he understood his obligations as a director of the Company.

Mr. Chu is a fellow practicing member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the UK. Mr.
Chu graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a master’s degree in
business administration. He has over 30 years experience in corporate finance
and accounting.

Mr. Chu is currently an independent non-executive director of (i) Tianli Holdings
Group Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0117) since April 2007; (i) Huayu Expressway Group Limited, a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1823)
since May 2009; (i) China First Capital Group Limited, a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1269) since October
2011; (iv) Madison Holdings Group Limited, a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8057) since September 2015; (v) Mingfa Group
(International) Company Limited, a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 846) since November 2016; and (vi) Hyfusin
Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8512) since December 2021.

Mr. Chu was the deputy chairman and executive director of Chinese People
Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0681) from December 2008 to October 2020, and
a non-executive director of Perfect Group International Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3326)
from August 2015 to March 2017. Mr. Chu was also an independent non-
executive director of each of (i) Flyke International Holdings Ltd., a company
formerly listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1998)
from February 2010 to December 2020; (i) Telecom Service One Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 3997) from April 2013 to December 2017; (i) China Huishan Dairy
Holdings Company Limited, a company formerly listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6863) from June 2017 to December 2017;
(iv) PT International Development Corporation Limited, a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 372) from March 2017
to September 2017; (v) Xinming China Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2699) from April 2021 to
August 2021; (vi) SuperRobotics Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8176) from March 2012 to November
2021; (vii) Peking University Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 618)
from October 2021 to October 2022; and (viii) Silk Road Logistics Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 988) from September 2023 to April 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Sin Ka Man (“Mr. Sin”), aged 58, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member
of both the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company since 29 August 2024. Mr. Sin was the independent non-executive
director of the Company from October 2011 to June 2017. He obtained legal
advice on 29 August 2024 according to the requirements of Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules, and has confirmed he understood his obligations as a director of
a listed issuer.

Mr. Sin became an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in January 1996, a fellow member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in July 1997 and a certified practising
accountant of the CPA Australia in December 2000. Mr. Sin holds a bachelor
degree in Social Sciences from the University of Hong Kong, a master degree
in Finance from the University of Strathclyde, the United Kingdom and a
master degree in Accounting from Curtin University of Technology, Australia.
He has profound experience in audit, account and financial management for
both private and listed companies.

Mr. Sin is currently a vice president of finance and company secretary of
Huayu Expressway Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1823).

From January 2007 to October 2020, he was an independent non-executive
director of Easy One Financial Group Limited, a company previously listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code before delisting from the
Stock Exchange: 221). Mr. Sin was an independent non-executive director
of Chinese People Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 681) between December 2006 and
September 2020. Mr. Sin was an independent non-executive director of Xtep
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1368) from January 2008 to May 2017. From
November 2005 to April 2015, he was an independent non-executive director
of Ming Lam Holdings Limited, a company previously listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and transferred from the GEM Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code before delisting from the Stock Exchange: 1106
and stock code on the GEM Board before the said transfer: 8065) (formerly
known as Sino Haijing Holdings Limited and Innovis Holdings Limited). From
September 2009 to November 2013, he was an independent non-executive
director of Hua Yin International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 989) (formerly known as
China Motion Telecom International Limited).
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Ms. Liang Lina (“Ms. Liang”), aged 43, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairperson of the Nomination
Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company since 2 September 2024. She obtained legal
advice on 30 August 2024 according to the requirements of Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules, and has confirmed she understood her obligations as a director
of a listed issuer.

Ms. Liang is currently a member of each of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Liang holds a
bachelor’s degree in Accounting from the Central University of Finance and
Economics and a master degree in Finance from Peking University. She has
profound experience in auditing, financial management, offshore financing,
investor relations, and corporate governance.

Ms. Liang is currently the company secretary of GuangDong-Hong Kong
Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1396) and independent non-executive director of Yufengchang
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the GEM of Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8631) (formerly known as Sun Kong Holdings Limited) since December
2024. From August 2004 to September 2011, she worked for Emnst & Young
Hua Ming Shenzhen Branch with the last position as a manager.

Mr. Chen Yifan (“Mr. Chen”), aged 67, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company since 3 September 2024. He obtained legal
advice on 3 September 2024 according to the requirements of Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules, and has confirmed he understood his obligations as a
director of a listed issuer.

Mr. Chen is currently an independent non-executive director of Millennium
Pacific Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8147). Mr. Chen served the Shantou Branch of the
People’s Bank of China from 1981 to 2015. He graduated from Central China
Normal University in the People’s Republic of China in 2004 with a master’s
degree in regional economics. He has 30 years of experience in the economic
and investment industries.

Save as disclosed herein, there is no other relationship between each of

Directors and the senior management as required to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules.
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The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the state
of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 158 of the annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The declaration and payment of dividends and the amount of dividends
in future will be at the discretion of the Board and will depend on future
operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial
conditions, contractual restrictions and other factors that the Board considers
relevant.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 is
set out in the sections headed “Management Discussion & Analysis” on pages
5 to 22 of this annual report.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The result, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements, are summarized
on pages 159 to 160 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year, together

with the reasons therefor, are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws
or the laws of Bermuda.

DONATIONS

There was no donation made by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$ Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year ended 31 December
2024.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group during
the year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements and in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for cash distribution
and distribution in specie were HK$Nil. In addition, in accordance with the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Company’s share premium account,
in the amount of HK$190,049,000, are distributable in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the percentages of revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers of the Group were as
follows:

i) The aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers represented approximately 70.7% of the total
revenue of the Group for the year. The revenue attributable to the
Group’s largest customer represented approximately 22.2% of the
Group’s total revenue for the year.

(ii) The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers represented 93.6% of the total purchases of the Group
for the year. The purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier
represented 45.1% of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors, their close associates
nor any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
Group'’s five largest customers and suppliers.

The Group has not entered into any finance lease agreements as at 31
December 2024 (2023: 1).

DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the composition of the Board as at
the date of this report is as:

Executive directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (appointed on 7 February 2025)
Mr. Liu Xin Chen (resigned on 30 April 2024)
Mr. Zhou Yihong (appointed on 30 April 2024
and retired on 26 June 2024)
Mr. Zhang Rujie (resigned on 7 February 2025)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Sin Ka Man (appointed on 29 August 2024)

Ms. Liang Lina (appointed on 2 September 2024)

Mr. Chen Yifan (appointed on 3 September 2024)

Mr. Man Wai Lun (resigned on 30 April 2024)

Mr. Zhou Zhencun (retired on 26 June 2024)

Mr. Chen Yongping (retired on 26 June 2024)

Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 30 April 2024
and retired on 26 June 2024)

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus,
Mr. Sin Ka Man, Ms. Liang Lina and Mr. Chen Yifan will retire from office
by rotation, and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 23 to 25 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
REMUNERATION

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus has entered into a service agreement with the
Company pursuant to which his initial term of service commences from
7 February 2025 for a term of three years, unless terminated by either
party giving to the other not less than 1 month’s notice in writing and in
accordance with the terms of the service agreement and subject to the
rotational retirement and re-election requirements at the general meetings of
the Company pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), or
earlier determination in accordance with the Bye-laws and/or any applicable
laws and regulations.

By a letter of appointment from the Company, the appointment of Mr. Sin Ka
Man as an independent non-executive Director has an initial term of service
for one year commencing from 29 August 2024, subject to the rotational
retirement and re-election requirements at the general meetings of the
Company pursuant to the Bye-laws, or earlier determination in accordance
with the Bye-laws and/or any applicable laws and regulations.

By a letter of appointment from the Company, the appointment of Ms. Liang
Lina as an independent non-executive Director has an initial term of service
for one year commencing from 2 September 2024, subject to the rotational
retirement and re-election requirements at the general meetings of the
Company pursuant to the Bye-laws, or earlier determination in accordance
with the Bye-laws and/or any applicable laws and regulations.

By a letter of appointment from the Company, the appointment of Mr. Chen
Yifan as an independent non-executive Director has an initial term of service
for one year commencing from 3 September 2024, subject to the rotational
retirement and re-election requirements at the general meetings of the
Company pursuant to the Bye-laws, or earlier determination in accordance
with the Bye-laws and/or any applicable laws and regulations.

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’ remuneration,
subject to the authorisation of the Shareholders given at the annual general
meeting of the Company each year. The remuneration of the executive
Directors is subject to the review by the Company’s remuneration committee,
and their remuneration is determined with reference to directors’ qualifications,
experience, duties, responsibilities and performance and results of the
Group. As for the independent non-executive Directors, their remuneration
is determined by the Board, upon recommendation of the Company’s
remuneration committee, with reference to the Directors’ qualifications,
experience, duties, responsibilities and performance and results of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
REMUNERATION (continued)

Details of Directors” emoluments during the year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save as aforesaid, none of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS OR ARRANGEMENTS

Except for those disclosed in section headed “Related Party Transactions and
Connected Transactions” below and note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts, transactions or arrangements of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted as at the end of the year
or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2024.

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 was the Company, any
of its holding companies or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisitions of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements do not constitute a connected transaction or a continuing
connected transaction of the Group as defined in and required to be disclosed
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
Other than the service contracts of the Directors, no contracts concerning the

management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group were entered into or existed during the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to the
written resolutions of all the shareholders passed on 11 October 2011.
The Scheme operates for purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who make contributions to the Group’s operations and
profitability. The Company and any of its associate do not grant/exercise any
share option since the date of the Listing, 28 October 2011. The total number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other schemes
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
The total number of Shares available for issue under options which may be
granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes must not, in
aggregate, exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company (“Scheme
Mandate Limit”) unless approved by the Shareholder. The Scheme Mandate
Limit may be refreshed by the Shareholders of the Company in general
meeting from time to time provided that the Scheme Mandate Limit so
refreshed must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
at the date of the approval of the refreshment by the Shareholders of the
Company in general meeting. No options may be granted under any scheme
of the Company (including the Scheme) if this will result in the said 30% limit
being exceeded. No option may be granted to any eligible participant which,
if exercised in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the share options already granted or to be granted
to such eligible participant under the Scheme (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding share options) in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such new grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of such new grant. Any grant of further share options
above this limit shall be subject to certain requirements provided under the
Listing Rules. Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Scheme, an
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and the
terms of grant thereof at any time during the applicable option period, which
shall not be more than 10 years from the date of grant of option. Details of the
Share Option Scheme were set out in the prospectus of the Company dated
18 October 2011. The Share Option Scheme was expired on 18 October
2021.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of movements in the Company’s convertible bonds and share capital
during the year are set out in notes 29 and 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above and the share option scheme of the Company as
disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended
31 December 2024.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the directors is currently in
force and was in force throughout the financial year.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance
throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover for the directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING

OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none
of the Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had registered an
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations that was required to be
recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate granted to any director or their respective spouses or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors, their
respective spouses or minor children to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the

SFO were as follows:

Long/short position:

15879}

7,/ %8

HRWT -

FERRREMATRRORABROERS

R2024F 12 A31 B + AR BB & F 5 K HIE &5 55 336 15
BAREMNESELMELSEEE AR R B EITRANE5% sk A
FEER R

Percentage of

Number of the Company’s
Capacity and nature ordinary issued share
Name of Shareholders of interest shares held capital
IERRARE BT
BRRES BB S RESNE BEEBRRHYE RABDHE
(Note 1)
(Ktat1)
Triumph Hope Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 501,330,000(L)(S) 51.05
Triumph Hope Limited (#7152 2) E=mEB A
Mr. Chan Chung Shu (Note 2) Interest in controlled corporation 501,330,000(L)(S) 51.05
(Note 2)
BRITET 5L (fYaE2) Ve A E i (i 2)
Great Wall International Investment XX Limited Corporation having security 501,330,000(L) 51.05
(Note 2) interest in shares
Great Wall International Investment XX Limited BEAROERER AR
(Ktet2)
China Great Wall AMC (International) Holdings Interest in controlled corporation 501,330,000(L) 51.05
Company Limited (Note 2)
PEREE (BB =R ER AR (A7 2) RiEEE kR
China Great Wall Asset Management Co., Ltd. (Note 2)  Interest in controlled corporation 501,330,000(L) 51.05
PERMEEEBROBRAR (Mit2) R EE kR
Shanxi Coking Coal Electrical (Hong Kong) Beneficial interest 58,800,000(L) 5.99
Company Limited (Note 3)
INFAEERE () BR AR (M:3) Bmikes
Mr. Ke Xin Hai Beneficial owner 57,000,000(L) 5.80
RATERE BEmEB A
Smith Lexi Lucia (Note 4) Interest in controlled corporation 195,000,000(L) 19.86
Smith Lexi Lucia (#f74) ZEE R
Forever Brilliance International Group Co., Limited Beneficial owner 195,000,000(L) 19.86
(Note 4)
Forever Brilliance International Group Co., Limited BEREAA
(Htat4)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Long/short position: (continued)
Notes:

(1) The letter “L” denotes a long position in interest in the share capital of the
Company while the letter “S” denotes a short position in interest in the share
capital of the Company.

2) Mr. Chan Chung Shu is deemed to be interested in 501,330,000 shares of the
Company held by Triumph Hope Limited by virtue of it being controlled by him.

On 24 April 2018, Triumph Hope Limited had pledged 501,330,000 shares of the
Company as security for a term loan facility provided to Triumph Hope Limited by
Great Wall International Investment XX Limited which was wholly-owned by China
Great Wall AMC (International) Holdings Company Limited which was, in turn,
wholly-owned by China Great Wall Asset Management Co., Ltd. FEI R EEE
B ARAT.

Q) Shanxi Coking Coal Group Company Limited is the beneficial owner of 100% of
the issued share capital of Shanxi Coking Coal Electrical (Hong Kong) Company
Limited and is deemed to be interested in the 58,800,000 Shares held by Shanxi
Coking Coal Electrical (Hong Kong) Company Limited under the SFO.

(4) Forever Brilliance International Group Co., Limited is wholly owned by Smith Lexi
Lucia.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person, other than a
Director, whose interests are set out under the section headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests and/or Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or any Specified Undertaking of the
Company or any other Associated Corporation” above, had registered an
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed amount of public float as required under the Listing
Rules as all times up to the date of this report (being the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report).
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@) 6k {eh £F 45 A= [ 22 4| Triumph Hope Limited 1 #%48 AR 5% A &)
Firt A R A 5 501,330,000 AR D R B A S

R 201844 A 24 B * Triumph Hope Limited# # & 2 7]
501,330,000 % A% 1 ¥E % Great Wall International Investment
XX Limited & Triumph Hope Limited#2 {72 B & 5K Bl & 351 -
Great Wall International Investment XX Limited J5 i 7 B &35 &
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100% B BTRANEREA A - BURIERE S R EI S G615
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R HEARER -

(4) Forever Brilliance International Group Co., Limited £ Smith Lexi
LuciaZE#A -
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AUDITOR

Following the resignation of World Link CPA Limited (“World Link” K (F A BR:ES S
of the Company on 23 December 2019, McMillan Woods (Ho PA 2019412 A23 HBHEA A RIZEANE - ARAREZS LT
Limited was appointed as the auditors of the Company by the board of £ (&%) @B B HHARA FAK A S EE - L
directors of the Company with effect from 23 December 2019 to fill in the I E REEATIAHIR 2 226 - B20195F 12 23 AR -
vacancy following the resignation of World Link. The board of directors of the ~ AAREES B MR - &4 BB XS e £t E18
Company had confirmed that there were no other matters or circumstances in S E R B SR

respect of such change of auditors that need to be brought to the attention of

the Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditors of the B Lt EESN - A B BE = F I 8 F Az 8 -
Company during the preceding three years.

The financial statements of the Group were audited by McMillan Woods (Hong ~ AEEB KRB ES (B8 @S EMERARTEE -
Kong) CPA Limited. McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited will retire &5 (F8) @M EEMARQRBEME  WHERAQR
and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be  EfEREBEFEASIZELSEBREFREARDFEBMADREBE -
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD REEEY
Chu Kin Wang Peleus KER
Executive director HITEF
Hong Kong N

5 July 2025 202567 A5H
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The Board and management are committed to achieve high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance its transparency and accountability. The Group has adopted the
practices that has complied with all the code provisions as set out in Appendix
C1 — Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (‘CG
Code”) of the Listing Rules. The Group will continue to enhance its corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business. It
will review its corporate governance practices regularly to ensure compliance
with the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

All Directors are required to retire from office by rotation and subject to re-
election by the Shareholders at annual general meeting at least once every
3 years. Under the Company’s bye-laws, one third of the Directors, must
retire and be eligible for re-election at each annual general meeting. The
Company has received annual confirmation of independence from each of the
independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the CG Code and Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers that all independent non-executive Directors
are independent. Within the three independent non-executive Directors,
at least one of them possesses the appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting or related financial management expertise.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the composition of the Board as at
the date of this report is as:

Executive directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (appointed on 7 February 2025)
Mr. Liu Xin Chen (resigned on 30 April 2024)
Mr. Zhou Yihong (appointed on 30 April 2024 and
retired on 26 June 2024)
Mr. Zhang Ruijie (resigned on 7 February 2025)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Sin Ka Man (appointed on 29 August 2024)

Ms. Liang Lina (appointed on 2 September 2024)

Mr. Chen Yifan (appointed on 3 September 2024)

Mr. Man Wai Lun (resigned on 30 April 2024)

Mr. Zhou Zhencun (retired on 26 June 2024)

Mr. Chen Yongping (retired on 26 June 2024)

Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 30 April 2024 and
retired on 26 June 2024)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company has neither a designated chairman nor chief executive officer
and the day-to-day management of the Group’s business is handled by
the executive Director. The Board believes that the present arrangement is
adequate to ensure an effective management and control of the Group’s
business operations.

36

BEENEREERNERRKTOLEER - NEERRE
sMREEEERELHEN -AKEERA—EER  mF
BMERDTE LTRAMERCT — BEERTAIREXESR
B ((REFR ) AMEE— LT RIEX - REBERSEER
BHEBBERERMEENTEE TR - LHERR
HEXERER  UBERFaLESFAl -

Exe

MAEFSARBREF AR LRTRERERRREH

BRSO FR - REAATNATERN  REER
REFAE L SHZMEFLERAUHAERERE
ff - ARFRRHEBIFMTEERBECE TR LT
RIS RB LN FEE Y HERE L RARWET
NTEFHBBIAL - RERBUFRTEERS 5
—FABEENEEER R LABHUHEREED
-

HE2024F 12 A31BIEFEN RAREAHACZESTSA
[P UNNE

BITES

KERLE(R2025F2 A7 HEZRT)

BIFRE A (720244 4 A 30 AEHT)

g E (72024 F 4 A 30 AERT
W7 2024 4 6 A 26 BIET)

SRANSE A (720254 2 A7 HEHT)

BIYFHITES

R A (202458 F20 HEZRT)
ZEMLLE (R2024F 9 B2 HEZRT)
BR—INSEE (R 2024 F 9 A3 HEZRT)
XAEB A (B 2024 4F 4 A 30 AEHT)
FAIRTF A (5220244 6 A 26 HET)
BRoK S 4 (722024 4F 6 A 26 HET)
BHEEZT(R2024F4 30 HEERT -

W7 2024 4 6 A 26 BIE(T)

EERATHAR
ADFDWIEE 2 ERBITRAER - MARELH 2 AHE

BERPTEFRE - EESRERTLHFRABRERAREZ
EBEERRNERE R RES -

Momentum Financial Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024



Corporate Governance Report
B P A

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
(continued)

The Board is responsible for promoting the success of the Group and its
business by leading and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board is
responsible for determining the Group’s objectives, overall strategies and
policies, approving business plan, evaluating operating, instilling corporate
culture and financial performance. Its role is clearly separated from that of the
senior management.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day operation responsibility of the Group
to executive Directors and senior management. In addition, the Board has
established Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees
various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.
Biographical details of and the relationship between the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the formulation of nomination policies, making
recommendations to the shareholders for re-election, providing sufficient and
accurate biographical details of directors to enable the Shareholders to make
an informed decision on the re-election, and where necessary, nominating
appropriate persons to fill in causal vacancies or as additions to the Board.
The Nomination Committee of the Company from time to time reviews the
composition of the Board with particular regard to ensuring that there are an
appropriate number of Directors on the Board independent of management.
It also identifies and nominates qualified individuals for appointment as new
Directors. When considering appointment of new Directors, the Board will
take into consideration of criteria such as expertise, experience, integrity and
commitment etc.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
potential legal actions against its Directors and officers.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to the revised CG Code which has come into effect from 1 January
2022, all Directors and company secretary should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

The Company encourages directors to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills needed for
acting as a director of the company.

According to the training records of the directors for the Company, all
directors participated in continuous professional development during the year
by reading materials or attending seminars on topics relevant to directors’
duties and responsibilities.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code regarding securities transactions by the directors during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) on 11 October 2011 which is primarily
responsible for making recommendations to the Board regarding the Group’s
engagement of appropriate directors and managerial personnel (including
the expertise, experience, integrity and commitment) to complement the
Company’s corporate objectives and strategies. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee were posted on the Company’s website.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board. The Company considered diversity of board
members can be achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board appointments will be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the board. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the
merits and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors, namely, Mr. Sin Ka Man, Ms. Liang Lina and Mr. Chen Yifan, and is
chaired by Ms. Liang Lina.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee had
held four meetings and the Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board, and recruitment procedure of Executive
Directors and senior management.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 11 October 2011 which is primarily
responsible for making recommendations to the Board regarding the Group’s
policies and structure for remuneration of Directors and senior management
of the Group; determining the remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management of the Group; and reviewing and approving their performance-
based remuneration. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
were posted on the Company’s website.

38

ESNESRS

AR BB ERAN T AR BB 8% C3 AT dk ) E T BT AE BT
FBHERHHIRESFA ([BESE ) - FRERSHEREEH
HRGMRTTH c KRERESIFLARBEAE  AQ7A
W EABEREBE2024F12 31 B IEFEANEMERFLE
SRS BREFETE SRR MR EIRE

REZREE

RRAFPR2011FI0A N BRILARANEREZE R ([
BEREE)) ZZESNIERERMNEFIREAHEASE
BEFAEESNEEAR (BEARBRNIEENR &
B BERRABRESTE)NEHE  AREIERKRRFR
TEEBEREE - REZESNBEEEENARRIBUET
& o

EEGCRMNEFEL LB ERHAERESFEZTT
E2ZR - ARARRBERAEFEENRET/LEEEZE
B BEETRRMER - Fi - XERABER XK
B BEERAE - EFEMAZTHARAES BRI I
NEEENEBIREAN ROBEMEFEZTENEE - B
BIREAKER - RIS B - RFRETRRMER - F
B SUERHBEER - FEER - REERMNE - REORTEH
NERTEREABREESTRNE S LERMBIKE -

RAEZBEH-BHEIIFRTES OSFEEE - REBL
TRBR—NEE) K - BREHLTEETR -

REBZE2024F 12 A1 HIEFEA  IBBRZEBERIT TR
@ MEBRZEENERTESTHERE  REREK -
LWEHTEZRSRAEEENTEERET

FMEES

ARFR20MFI0A1TARLARANFHEE S ([
MESE]) ZZEENTIERERNERTSRMFHAE
BEELaREREEHFMBERRABNES BT ASHE
ERPRERENTMGE  ARER MRS HRRR
WEH - FHEZESNBEEEERNAR R BT -

Momentum Financial Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024



Corporate Governance Report
J/J:\ St MsAﬁd:

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors, namely, Mr. Sin Ka Man, Ms. Liang Lina and Mr. Chen Yifan, and is
chaired by Mr. Chen Yifan.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
had held four meetings and the Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the remuneration policy and structure relating to Directors and senior
management of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2024, there
were no material matters relating to any share scheme which required review
or approval by the Remuneration Committee.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) on 11 October 2011 which is primarily responsible for
overseeing the relationship between the Company and its external auditor in
relation to the matters coming within the scope of the Group’s audit; reviewing
the Group’s financial reporting process, adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control system and risk management system. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee which describe the authorities and duties of
the Audit Committee were prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide
for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the HKICPA and were
posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors,
namely, Mr. Sin Ka Man, Ms. Liang Lina and Mr. Chen Yifan, and is chaired by
Mr. Sin Ka Man.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee had held
two meetings and the Audit Committee reviewed the interim and annual
results, and the interim and annual reports; met with external auditor to ensure
appropriate accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;
recommended the appointment of auditor; and assisted the Board in meeting
its responsibilities for maintaining an effective system of internal control.

Compliance with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
The Company had complied throughout the year ended 31 December 2024
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 of
the Listing Rules.
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ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, one annual general meeting, five

regular Board meetings and other Board meetings were held in addition to

circulation of written board resolutions. The composition of the Board and
Board committees during the year and up to the date of this report, and its
members’ attendance record of meetings held in 2024 are shown below:

EEHERE

HE2024F12A31ALLFE  BREMEAMES
RBRFEFAE R
FRAREEAREAN EECeREEELES

TRERITT —
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AREHESS

s
= e
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@ N EMmE

RIAR AR A R EL Ak B HI & 2024 &3 IA0ER a0 T ¢

The The  The Annual
Board of The Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Directors Committee = Committee = Committee Meeting
EXg ERZET FMZEEE REEEE RREFKE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus KRS HE (R 2025 F
(appointed on 7 February 2025) 2R7REZE) N/ATNE A N/A 8 F N/ATNE R N/AE N/AE F
Mr. Liu Xin Chen BIRR S (R 20245
(resigned on 30 April 2024) 4 A 30 HEHMT) 1/1 NATER  NATER NATER  NATEA
Mr. Zhou Yihong At 5 A (72 2024 F
(appointed on 30 April 2024 4RB30HERE
and retired on 26 June 2024) W 2024 F
6 A 26 HE) 1/1 NATER  NATER  NATEAR 11
Mr. Zhang Ruijie RAELE
(resigned on 7 February 2025) (202542 A7 BEHE) 5/5  NATER NATER  NATER 11
Independent non-executive directors BUHHTES
Mr. Sin Ka Man ERESE (R 20245
(appointed on 29 August 2024) 8 20 HEE(T) 2/2 11 3/3 33 NATEMA
Ms. Liang Lina REM AL (R 20245
(appointed on 2 September 2024) 9A2BEZM) 2/2 1/1 212 22 NATER
Mr. Chen Yifan R — N 5E A (A 2024 5
(appointed on 3 September 2024) 9A3AEZEME) 2/2 11 11 71 NATEH
Mr. Man Wai Lun SRS (R 2024 5
(resigned on 30 April 2024) 4 A30HEHMT) 1/1 1/1 NATER  NATER  NATER
Mr. Zhou Zhencun BRI 5 A (R 2024 5
(retired on 26 June 2024) 6 B 26 HET) 2/2 11 11 1/ 11
Mr. Chen Yongping Bk 5t A (72 2024 F
(retired on 26 June 2024) 6 B 26 HE(T) 2/2 11 11 1/ 11
Ms. Huang Chunlian BERELLT(R20245
(appointed on 30 April 2024 4B30BERT
and retired on 26 June 2024) W 2024 F
6 A26 HET) 1/1 NATER  NATER  NATEAR 11
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge responsibilities for overseeing the preparation of
the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
which should give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and of the results
and cash flows of the Group on a going concern basis.

The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation of the financial statements
of the Group and the auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the independent
auditor’s report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year, the Group has complied with Code D.2.1 of the CG Code
by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. Management is responsible for the design, implementation
and monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees management
in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk
management and internal control systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the
following phases:

° Identification: 1dentify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks
that could affect the achievement of objectives.

° Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the
risk portfolio accordingly.

° Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2024, no significant risk was
identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is compatible with
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“*COS0”) 2013 framework. The framework enables the Group to achieve
objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The
components of the framework are shown as follows:

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures that
provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and interactive process for identifying and
analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed.

o Information and Communication: Internal and external communication
to provide the Group with the information needed to carry out day-to-
day controls.

. Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether
each component of internal control is present and functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and to
ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of its public
disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside information
policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a
disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

° The access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees
on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve
confidentiality.

° Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

° The Executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf
of the Company when communicating with external parties such as the

media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2024, no significant control
deficiency was identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is consisted of
professional staff with relevant expertise. The IA function is independent of the
Group’s daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and
internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of
operating effectiveness.

Review of the risk management and internal control systems is conducted
annually by an external consultant, and the results are reported to the Board
via external consultant and Audit Committee afterwards.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of these systems has
been conducted annually. Several areas have been considered during the
Board'’s review, which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and the Group’s
ability to respond to changes in its business and the external environment (i)
the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control systems.

The Board, through its review and the review made by IA function, external
consultant and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and
internal control systems were effective and adequate. Such systems, however,
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the
resources, staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate
and the training programs and budget provided were sufficient.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s internal control system
and ensuring that a sound and effective internal control system is maintained.
The Company has engaged professional staff and external consultant
with relevant expertise to conduct review and make recommendations for
the improvement and strengthening of the internal control system. The
professional staff and external consultant with relevant expertise has reviewed
the major internal controls and measures, including financial, operational
and compliance as well as risk management and has made relevant
recommendations for improvement of the internal control system to the Board.
Any material non-compliance or failures in internal controls maintained by the
Group and relevant recommendations for improvements are reported to the
Audit Committee.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Board has to be fully responsible for the stability and effectiveness of
the systems of internal control and with management of the Group. It is also
responsible for ensuring that recommendations made by the internal audit
function, external consultant and professional staff with relevant expertise are
properly implemented. The Board recognizes that the Group’s internal control
system plays a key role in the management of risks, and the assurance of
continued compliance with laws and regulations by the Group.

The Audit Committee has kept under review the system of internal
control. Based on review undertaken together with reports submitted by
the management and professional staff with relevant expertise, the Audit
Committee will provide the Board with advice on the adequacy of the Group’s
internal control system, including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function, in order to ensure that an effective internal control system is put
in place. During the year under review, the Board considers that the Group
has complied with the provisions on internal controls as stipulated in the CG
Code. The Board is satisfied that the Group’s internal control system including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
as appropriate to the Group have been put in place and that no significant
areas of improvement which are required to be brought to the attention of the
Audit Committee have been revealed.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The fees in relation to the audit and non-audit services provided by McMillan
Woods, the external auditors, to the Company and its subsidiaries for the year

ended 31 December 2024 are analyzed below:

Type of services provided by the external auditors

BREEE ()
EERAEAARENERBYNHELRANBELRA
WEREAE - YA ERRADERBE \%%@ﬁ&ﬂﬁ

HRASENEEABRENERLEENT - EF52RA
SHNAREERS - BRAEEEIZR G R AERSEEST
ERERTHAEREE -

BEREZEERERNNIERRS  c EFERERAGHERE
EMEZAEMETHRN TERERNRENER L
ERZEERAAKEANEEZRNTL 1 (BEAAT
BET RMBERBENETR - B TABNERRERNTD
HIREESRUER - UEFRABEERRTZAR -1
NEFEEAN  EFFRRAKERBRAETRIPTIENA
BEREGRTE - EFRERN  AREDR i\ﬁ;ﬁﬂﬁm*ﬁﬁ*
TERG BEWK - 2ERGREEREREIERE -
BERRBANARBEMANEEREZES -

BB BN &

BE2024F12 31 HILFE - SNERBE R T AARF K
HIE DR B RSB RRB R ST

SN BLET AT IR MV AR IS TR

Fee
#H
HK$'000
FAET

During the year, McMillan Woods had provided the following services, RERARE GIRMELA TR
Audit ZEL 750
Non-audit service HZERTE 100
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HOW SHAREHOLDERS CAN CONVENE A SPECIAL
GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Pursuant to the bye laws of the Company, any one or more Shareholder
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the secretary of the company by mail to Room 510, 5/F, Wayson
Commercial Building, 28 Connaught Road West, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong, to
require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business or resolution specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance
with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the company secretary by mail to Room 510, 5/F,
Wayson Commercial Building, 28 Connaught Road West, Sheung Wan, Hong
Kong, or by email to info@1152.com.hk. The company secretary forwards
communications relating to matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities to
the Board and communications relating to ordinary business matters, such as
suggestions, inquiries and customer complaints, to the chief executive officer
of the Company.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

General meeting of the Company provides a communication channel between
the Shareholders and the Board that the shareholders of the Company are
encouraged to participate in the Company’s annual general meeting and any
other meetings for any enquiries about the Company’s performance.

The Company also maintains a website at www.1152.com.hk to disseminate
information and updates on the Company’s business developments and
operations, financial information, corporate governance practices and other
shareholders information to Shareholders as well as investors.

AMENDMENT OF CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no material changes in
the constitutional documents of the Company.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

The Group primarily adopts the principles and basis of the ESG
Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of (the “Listing Rule”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, with an aim to establish a sound environment, social
and governance structure. This Report covers the Group’s overall
performance in two subject areas, namely, Environmental and Social
of the principal businesses of the Group from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2024 (the “2024” or “Year”), unless otherwise stated. The
management regularly review the scope of the ESG Report to ensure
that significant impacts to the Group’s overall business portfolio are
covered.

The basis of reporting principles — materiality, quantitative and
consistency:

° “Materiality” Principle: The Group determines material ESG issues
by stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment.

. “Quantitative” Principle: Information is presented with quantitative
measure, whenever feasible, including information on the
standards, methodologies, assumptions used and provision of
comparative data.

o “Consistency” Principle: The Report will use consistent
methodologies for meaningful comparisons in the past years
unless improvements in methodology are identified.

The ESG team should also actively encourage the practice of improving
the Company’s ESG standards. The ESG team should make different
level disclosures ,according to the “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by HKEX, formulating the methodologies
used in the calculation, the assumptions and limitations, and conversion
factor.

The Group seeks to balance the views and interests of these
stakeholders through constructive conversation with a view to
setting the course for long term prosperity. The Board of directors is
responsible for evaluating and determining the environmental, social
and governance risks of the Group, and ensuring that relevant risk
management and internal control systems are in place and operate
effectively.
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BOARD STATEMENT

The Group undoubtedly places a strong emphasis on growth
and development so as to transform to a scalable enterprise.
Notwithstanding such emphasis, the Board is fully aware that the
duly performance of our responsibilities relating to ESG are key to our
sustainable development and plays a primary role in overseeing the
Group’s ESG issues. The Board approves environmental goals and
social goals for the sustainability of the Group’s business. We strive
to align our long term corporate development with environment and
society.

The Group seeks to balance the views and interests of these
stakeholders through constructive conversation with a view to
setting the course for long term prosperity. The Board of directors is
responsible for evaluating and determining the environmental, social
and governance risks of the Group, and ensuring that relevant risk
management and internal control systems are in place and operate
effectively.

Data from relevant material risks is gathered and KPIs are created to set
practicable targets. The ESG team manages relevant material risks by
regularly monitoring the KPIs against the targets.

The oversight of the Board ensures that the team can have all the
right tools and resources to deal with the ESG issues. The ESG team
updates to the Board at the regular meetings with the progress and
the status of achieving the KPI targets, the environmental goals and the
social goals.

The Board reviews and monitors the team’s reporting on semi-
annual basis, ensuring that the requirements from the Board are met.
The review include (i) measurement system adopted for progress
assessment; (ii) process for data collection and verification; (iii)
comparison with the historical data and how the baseline is selected
and (iv) the achievement of the target setting. The Board should make
recommendation or suggest to the ESG team.

The Board aims to reduce 1% of energy used compare with last year
energy consumption. The Group has achieved its target during the
Year.
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COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS AND
IDENTIFICATION OF MATERIAL ISSUES

The Group highly values the staff’s opinions and appeals. The Group
place reliance on the contributions made by all staff from various
departments in compiling the ESG report. Due to their respective
endeavour, the Group have deepened its understanding on the
Group’s accomplishments to-date in the respect of environmental
and social issues. The information have brought together should not
be merely regarded as an overview of the Group’s environmental and
social initiatives during the Year, they have also subsequently laid a
solid groundwork for the Group to formulate strategies for sustainable
development in both short-run and long-run period.

Meanwhile, the Group genuinely understands that all stakeholders’
interests are closely related to its business development. The Group,
therefore, is actively involved in bilateral exchange of views with
the stakeholders. Through diversified channels of communication,
the Group is adequately informed of the overall expectations and
requirements of various stakeholders, so that the management of
the Group could take corresponding measures and improve the
operating strategies to further enhance the performance in the fields
of environmental, social and governance. The Group’s stakeholders
represent a congregation of diversified sectors of interests, including
but not limited to government and regulatory authorities, shareholders,
collaborative partners, customers, staff, members of the community
and the public at large. The management of the Group engage in
an effective communication with each stakeholder through various
communication channels, such as emails, phone conversations and
face-to-face discussions, among others. In the Year, the Group has
both learnt and addressed to the stakeholders’ expectations, while their
views were collected through various channels, including face-to-face
conversations, conferences and questionnaires, among others.
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4  MATERIALITY MATRIX

During the Year, the Group has evaluated a number of envirbﬁrﬁental,
social and operation related issues, and assessed their importance to
stakeholders and the Group through various channels. This assessment
helps to ensure the Group’s business development is in line with the
expectations and requirements of its stakeholders. The Group’s and

its stakeholders’ matters of concern are presented in the following

materiality matrix:

S =4GR

RAFE - AKEFE T ZEERE  HE REER
MefFEE - WS ERENE T 2EREERNE
RASBENERIE o LEHEA BN ERAEEEL
BRNIGEFNENDRERER - AEEREFNE
MBI RBEATEE M EREHIIR

Importance to the Group
HASENSEM
Low Medium High
& il =
High Anti-discrimination ¢ Talent management Customers’ satisfaction level
= [ I%48 AT ER BEREE
Protecting labour rights ¢ Staff training and promotion Anti-corruption
RELENEF opportunity &5
i BIHFIIREA#HE Product quality and safety
% N ¢ Staff compensation and ERBEERLR
é @Kj welfare policies Suppliers management
S 8 TR R EFIBR HERER
e} ;‘E Occupational health and
g & workplace safety
gx BERFEETESHZE
o I
g Medium Community involvement ¢ Use of resources Operational compliance
a H fim e EIRfERB EESH
Protecting customers’ privacy
RETFEL
Air emissions
& RUBE AR
Low Preventive measures for child | ¢ Non-hazardous wastes Use of raw materials
&® and forced labour produced RMRHME R
ST EECE ok =y ] FEENEEERY) Hazardous wastes produced
FEENESEEY
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4 MATERIALITY MATRIX (continued) 4 EEMEME(E)
The table underneath showed aspects on the ESG Guide to be TR &I ESG 15 5| AT 5 B VE I 5T 1% 69 ESG [E E & ¥
assessed and those ESG issues were determined to be material to the REEBEKRHNESGHM ©
Group.
ESG Aspects as set forth in ESG Guide Material ESG issues for the Group
ESG 55| Fi5IH ESG B E HAEEBEEAWESGHEE

(A) Environmental

@ B’ER
Al Emissions Emission from town gas, electricity or vehicle
Al PERR TMRAKR « BN HERHEER
A2  Use of Resources Use of energy and paper
A2 BR{EA BER R ARSR{E A

A3  Environment and Natural Resources
A3 IRERRAEIR

A4 Climate Change

A4 RIREME

B)  Social
B #E
B1 Employment and Labour Practices Labour practices
Bl (EEEBEIEMR BIEMR
B2  Health and Safety Workplace health and safety
B2 f@EHLE TIESMidERZ 2
B3  Development and Training Employee development and training
B3 R KEI & B R RiEdl
B4  Labour Standards Anti-child and forced labour
B4 ST AR BrIEE T Roaia &
B5  Supply Chain Management Supply chain management
Bs {HEEER HrEpEm
B6  Product Responsibility Product responsibility
B6 EmAE EmEE
B7  Anti-corruption Anti-corruption, fraud prevention and anti-money laundering
B7 RES RE)S - b7 IEEREF R RO B
B8  Community Involvement Community programs, employee volunteering and donation
B8 tE£H HEES - BT EERBEEEH
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MATERIALITY MATRIX (continued)

A.

Environmental

The Group is engaged in the provision of financing and leasing
services, as well as in trading of nutritional food products. Most
of daily and routine operations are taken place within office. The
Group strictly complies with all applicable laws and regulations
on pollution and environmental protection, including but not
limited to the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong
Kong. Due to business nature of the Group, it do not generate
a significant amount of air emissions, wastewater, nor any other
emissions in the course of the daily operations. The Group’s
sources of greenhouse gas emissions are attributable to the
direct emissions arising from vehicles, plus energy indirect
emissions from electricity consumption, as well as other indirect
emissions arising from employees’ business travels and paper
consumption.

In respect of waste treatment, the Group, during its course of
operation, produces non-hazardous wastes, mainly categorized
as general waste, that are subject to the handling of the property
management company; on the other hand, its hazardous wastes
are mainly electronic wastes in the office, such as light bulbs,
batteries, and inkjet cartridges, among others. In order to ensure
proper handling of hazardous wastes, the Group has returned all
its collected inkjet cartridges to the suppliers for further handling.
As there is only an insignificant amount of hazardous wastes
produced during the Year by the Hong Kong office, the Group
does not make any subsequent relevant disclosure on the issue.

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction

The Group is highly concerned with environmental protection. In
the course of business, it adhere to the principles of “reduce”,
“recycle” and “reuse”, and obliged to implement green office
practices. The Group nurture the awareness of environmental
protection among its staff through promoting water conservation
concept. Besides, the business of the Group does not involve
any use of packaging materials.

To reduce paper consumption and waste disposal, the Group
has encouraged its staff to re-use paper, to adopt double-
sided printing and copying and to re-use paper printed in single
side. The Group have assigned recycling boxes in the office to
collect waste paper, posters and envelopes. Meanwhile, The
Group encourage its staff to resort to the electronic means
of communication, including emails instead of facsimile or
physical mails, as well as to adopt the electronic system for
recordkeeping.
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MATERIALITY MATRIX (continued)

A.

Environmental (continued)

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction (continued)

As far as energy conservation is concerned, the Group prioritizes
to apply office appliances and equipment that incorporate
Energy Label, which enable efficient use of energy. The Group
also advocate its staff to switch off all electronic appliances and
equipment such as computers, idle lighting system and other
electronic appliances when the office closes.

On the other hand, vehicles have posed as one of the main
sources of greenhouse gas emissions. The Group, therefore,
undertake regular inspection and maintenance for vehicles, so
as to maintain the vehicles’ performance, to ensure that there is
no engine-idling, as well as to minimise air emissions and wasted
fuel.

A1.1. Emissions Data from Gaseous Fuel Consumption
a) Since the Company did not have town fuel
and town gas consumption during the Year,
therefore no emissions data from gaseous
fuel consumption applied.

b) Since the Company did not have motor
vehicles during the Year, therefore no
emissions data from fuel consumption
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applied.
A1.2. Greenhouse Gas Emission Al2. BERBHNE
KPI
BRENES
2025 Unit %

2025 F B %
Scope 1
gBE1
Direct Emission - Kg AfT -
HEHEN
Scope 2
€iE2
Indirect Emission 7,515 Kg AT 93%
R HER
Scope 3
€E3
Other indirect Emission 576 Kg AT 7%
H b B HE L
Total 8,091 Kg AT 100%
st
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MATERIALITY MATRIX (continued)

Environmental (continued)
Energy Saving and Emission Reduction (continued)
A1.2. Greenhouse Gas Emission (continued)

During the Year, there is 8,091 kg (2023: 9,883
kg) of carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases
(mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide)
emitted from the Group’s operation.

Total floor area coverage for the Group was 330
m? (2023: 250 m?) in 2024. The annual emission
intensity was 24.5 KgCO,e/m? (2023: 39.5 KgCO, e/
ma).

The Group set the targets to 16,841 kg of GHG
emission which decreased 1% of last year’s GHG
emission target. The Group has achieved the target
during the Year.

Compliance with relevant laws and requlations:

The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste of the Group during the Year.
In addition, no significant fines or non-monetary
sanctions for non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations had been reported in the Year.

Non-hazardous Waste

The Group did not generates significant hazardous
waste in its operation. Non-hazardous waste from
use of electricity of the Group’s operation but
the management of the Group believed that is
insignificant waste.

Use of resource

The Group is committed to minimising the impact
of business activities on the environment, and
supporting environmental protection programmes.
In particular, a number of initiatives designed to
conserve resources were introduced to promote
employee awareness of the need to achieve efficient
utilisation of resources.
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4  MATERIALITY MATRIX (continued)

A. Environmental (continued)
Energy Saving and Emission Reduction (continued)

A2.1

A3

54

Use of resource (continued)

For the Hong Kong office operation, the Group has
been encouraging employees to establish energy-
saving habits in the office, such as switching off
lights and electronic appliances before leaving the
office, as well as setting indoor temperature at
25.5C.

The energy consumed is mainly from purchase of
electricity. The total electricity consumed are set out
below:

EEMEME (E)
A IRIEBE(E)
BUBERHE (4B)
A21 ERERE)

EBMAEEEIE  AEEH
BEEEENAZTREZE -
151 20 1A ke B 4 1 = AT B BA R S
REFHRE 1L

255T °

5@ A s Y
1 =8 2 E A

FBREREIREZRABEE S
RREEBERIWT -

KPI

BRENER
2024 Unit
2024 F B
Electricity consumed FEE 8,982 kWh T FL s
Total floor are of facilities R RE TR 330 m?F 75K
Electricity consumed per square meter BEYFREES 27.2 kWh/m?
TR,k

During the Year, the Group set targets to 15,568
kWh of energy consumption decreased 1% of last
year’s target of electricity consumption. The Group
has achieved the target during the Year.

Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group has established a series of policies,
mechanisms and measures on environmental
protection and natural resources conservation to
enhance its efficiency in the usage of energy, water
and materials and also complies with relevant local
environmental regulations and international general
practices, with an aim to reduce the use of natural
resources and protect the environment.

There were no non-compliance cases noted in
relation to environmental laws and regulations
during the Year.

A3

AEEEAFENERERERZ
R E /15,668 F LI - A F
MAEBEEETHRI%  AEH
MAFEDIERBIZ -

RIERARRER
REEEHE RN BRRER
E N ARERRENBOR - #
KAEheRIE S EBEEIR - KR
FHERE - WET A A BIRR
ERE—RERED - §ERD
RIRE R RARERS -

AEERAFEY BEREHAR
BERLOERMEREZR -
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4  MATERIALITY MATRIX (continued)

A. Environmental (continued)
Energy Saving and Emission Reduction (continued)
A4 Climate change

Global climate change is getting worse and
global warming has been a serious problem. The
Group, as a responsible enterprise, endeavoured
to introduce measures as far as practicable,
such as those mentioned in A2.1 above, to
reduce greenhouse gas emissions from business
operations.

To cope with extreme weather conditions,
the Group takes precautionary and protective
measures including, where necessary, home office
arrangement, work schedule rearrangement and
redeployment of resources, to ensure the safety
of employees, to minimize the impact on business
process and to avoid any physical damages to
assets of the Group.

B. Social
Being a responsible business and employer, the Group are
committed to consistently looking for ways to meet the corporate
social responsibilities. The Group focus on its staff, environment
and community as well as its business partners.

B1.  Employment and Labour Practices

Employees are the most valuable asset of the Group and
crucial part of its business growth. The Group respects
every employee and strives to establish an inclusive
workplace. As stated clearly in its “Staff Manual” and
“Corporate Social Responsibility Policy”, the Group is
committed to providing equal opportunities in recruitment
and promotion, regardless of age, gender, race, skin
colour, religion, nationality, marital status, disability or
sexual orientation. The Group makes every effort to ensure
that there is no harassment, including sexual harassment,
in the workplace.

The primary business of the Group is provision of financial
printer services, the management believes that hiring and
retaining qualified employees is a key to its success. The
Group regularly reviews the remuneration policy to ensure
its market competitiveness. The Group also carries out
staff evaluations to assess performance of all employees
on annual basis. Employees are recognized and rewarded
according to their individual performance, working
experience, respective responsibilities, merit, qualifications,
competence and time commitments
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4 MATERIALITY MATRIX (continued) 4 EEMEME(E)
B. Social (continued) B. #E#&)
B1.  Employment and Labour Practices (continued) Bl. ERBREIZEHE(&E)
Staff Composition B T4
As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of R2024F 128318 A&EE XA
16 (20283: 29) staff, including operational office, sales and 1654 (20234 : 294 )BT - BiEEE
marketing, and back office division. All staff members are MER - HE RTISHEREIAREE DM
allocated in Hong Kong and Mainland China. WET - 2HETHERNBERPERA
Hh o
a) Employees’ Age and Gender Distribution a) EEFRRMRS M
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
Male Female Male Female
Age Group Fp4a Rl B 7z B g3
19-30 195%-30 5% 8% 31% 7% 14%
31-45 315 —-455% 38% 23% 17% 31%
46-60 46 5% -60 5% 0% 0% 31% 0%
Total et 46% 54% 55% 45%
b) Employees’ Types Distribution b) EEER S
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Male Female Male Female
B kg B 2z
Full-time 2H 46% 54% 55% 45%
Part-time R 0% 0% 0% 0%
Total @t 46% 54% 55% 45%
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4  MATERIALITY MATRIX (continued)

B. Social (continued)

B1

B2

4 EEMEMEE

B. #& (&)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued) Bl (EBRELTIER(E)

Staff Composition (continued) ERNERAC-))

0) Employees’ Geographical Distribution c) EEHEDMH

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Male Female Male Female
Bt geg 3 Eeld g

Hong Kong & 38% 23% 10% 7%
Mainland China R B A3 8% 31% 45% 38%
Total et 46% 54% 55% 45%
The Group will continue to provide a well-structured AEBGHERESIRMEERET
and caring environment to employees to raise ZARENTIERBUREAKS
their sense of belonging and work efficiency in the EREBNFBRN TEWE -
Group.
The Group is not aware of any material non- MARFE KEBIWTANMEAR
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations EREEEREBEEENER
that have a significant impact relating to MEMENLRE  HEREFH -
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and T REH - TEKE 2T
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal b~ RISAR B B ) 55 R A& )
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other U AEEEKEAZENE
benefits and welfare on the Group during the Year. Woo AN RAREE RERE R
In addition, no non-compliance with relevant laws ERMBEERERERMBHEE
and regulations that resulted in significant fines or RESI SR SR B ©
sanctions had been reported during the Year.

Employee Health and Safety B2 [EE#FRHEZE

The Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and
regulations in relation to occupational safety in the localities
of its operation, including but not limited to the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Occupational Diseases and the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong. It source for labour
insurance for its staff. To safeguard for employees’ health
and safety, all staff keep their working spaces clean, along
with adequate lighting and ventilation at all times. The
Group also ensure that the proper fire service equipment
and first aid kits are in place. Take the Hong Kong office
as an example, the Group distribute the relevant materials
related to occupational safety and health to staff, so as to
enhance employees’ awareness on occupational safety
and health.
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MATERIALITY MATRIX (continued) 4 EEMEME (E)
B. Social (continued) B. #E#&)

B2  Employee Health and Safety (continued) B2 (ESfEFHZE (&)
Occupational Health and Safety Data B R B 2 2 BUR
The information of work accident are set out below: BRAIEZINNEREINAT -

2024 2023 2022

Health and Safety REHEZE 2024 F 2023 F 2022 F
Number of work-related fatalities A TEREMIE T HAEL - = =
Lost days due to work injury ETEEATIEEE = = =
During the Year, the Group has had no non-compliance AEBRAFETESBERBERER
cases regarding violation of relevant laws and regulations RZ2HHEBERNREREESREZR -
on occupational health and safety.

B3 Development and Training B3  #ERIE
The Group has committed to provide on-the-job education REBMHN ABEERETEME LIE
and training to its employees in order to enhance their Al IRA R EO A R - ANEE
knowledge and skills. All employees are encouraged to FEFFEREREICEVUHEESREARSN
enhance their skills and knowledge at every opportunity Rae R - WEEYE SR e K
in order to perform their current job more efficiently ZHA TEURE i AR e HIR M
and effectively and to be better prepared for career BB REBSHESR RNEBNKFEE
opportunities which may arise. During the Year, regular AiESRENTHEIRESEETNE
training courses were provided to the employees included RABREES) - Bpetss| R E &5
but not limited to orientation training, technical training and
quality training.
Performance evaluations are initiated each year. REBFBFGFETENTE - BEEAE
Recognising the value in the skill and experience of its BElRESRELERNEEEER  FA5E
staff, the Group has adopted a policy that any promotions BB ELR BHEURSAST AE
will be considered internally first before hiring any outside & REHFESEEHINEE - KEEZ
staff. It is the Group’s policy to select the most suitable R AKERSEEEASERA » LB A
candidate for appointment to a higher rank based on A ARBMIEREPE -
merit, rather than on the seniority of the candidates.

B4 Labour Standard B4 X TH|

The Group fully understand that the exploitation of child
and forced labour are universally prohibited, and therefore
take the responsibility against child and forced labour
very seriously. The Group strictly comply with all laws and
regulations against child labour and forced labour.

AEBRANMYET MBS BFmER
RETEES  FBEHRYE—t1ER
BT REEHNTTR - AEEBRRE
STHAHERERAET MRESBEER
ER
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MATERIALITY MATRIX (continued)

B.

Social (continued)

B4

Labour Standard (continued)

The Group strictly observes the laws and regulations in
relation to employment in the localities of its operation,
including but not limited to the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Employment Ordinance
of Hong Kong, so as to ascertain that reasonable
remuneration and benefits are provided for all staff, while
the employment principle is based on the protection
of labours’ rights. To correspond with the Group’s
development in the industry, the Group duly arrange
for recruitment to source for suitable candidates in
accordance with the distinctive requirements of each
specific position. During the recruitment process, the
management screen of candidates based on the criterion
in line with the requirements of the positions concerned,
such as academic qualifications, working experience and
individual capability, while the Group does not discriminate
against any candidates on the grounds of variations in
gender, age, race, religion or disability so as to provide
equal chances for interviews for all suitable applicants.
On concluding an employment contract with employees,
the management will scrutinize carefully the relevant
identification document of employees to ensure no
mistaken employment of child labour. Prior to the official
appointment of each staff, it provide a concrete description
of the predestinated position, with clear specifications on
the job duties, hierarchical scale and working hours, to
prevent forced labour. With regard to resigned employees,
a face-to-face interview in relation to the resignation would
be arranged in order to look into the reasons of the off-
boarding. The Group will comply with the requirements of
the relevant laws and regulations, to make timely payment
for the outstanding wages.

Benefits and Development

The Group is firmly convinced that effective communication
is significant to promote employer-employee relationship.
The Group, therefore, highly value the communication
with its staff. All department heads will contact staff
from time to time for view exchange. Should any staff
encounter any difficulties or problems in carrying out
their duties, they may reflect views and seek assistance
from their respective department heads. The Group also,
from time to time, organizes recreational activities, so
as to facilitate employees’ work-life balance, physical
and mental wellbeing, along with strengthened bonding
and team-spirit among members. During the Year, the
Group distributed festive presents and hosted for festive
luncheons for its Hong Kong staff.
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MATERIALITY MATRIX (continued)

B.

Social (continued)

B4

B5

Labour Standard (continued)

Benefits and Development (continued)

During the Year, the Group has had no non-compliance
cases regarding violation of relevant child labour and
forced labour laws.

Supply Chain Management

The Group’s suppliers mainly provide office supplies. The
Group compile a required material list in line with its internal
requirement, along with stock-taking so as to refrain
from wasting resources. When selecting suppliers, the
management screen of based on the quality of products
provided by suppliers. The Group give preference to those
suppliers in nearby regions, so as to reduce the distance
of products delivery, as well as to minimize the carbon
footprints produced during the transportation.

Traditional key considerations in supply chains include
technical quality, cost effectiveness, speed of delivery and
reliability. However, sustainability factors are increasingly
gaining importance. For example:

— Environmental pollution

— Workforce health and safety incidents

— Labor disputes

- Corruption and bribery

To further mitigate the risk and enhance the sustainability
of the supply chain and procurement, the Group has
included ESG factors in its scoring mechanism for
tendering process to better manage the environmental
and social risks in the supply chain. For example, the
Group would perform background search for its business
partners. If any irregularities were found, the relevant
department shall provide explanation to the Legal and
Compliance Department and the Finance Department and
implement control measures to mitigate potential social
risks of the involved business partners. During the Year,
no irregularities were found.

During the Year, the Group carried out a regular review
on their current suppliers and assess other alternative
potential suppliers. Where ever possible, the Group
would tend to suspend cooperation with suppliers if
significant deterioration was found in the supplier’s quality,
environmental and social responsible, this ensures that
suppliers conform to the Group’s standard.
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MATERIALITY MATRIX (continued)

B.

Social (continued)

B5

B6

Supply Chain Management (continued)

A systematic supplier management mechanism has been
set up to closely monitor the performance of suppliers. As
at 31 December 2024, the Group has 33 major suppliers.

4

EEMEME ()
B. #& (&)
B5  (HIESEEFE(B)

RNEBE R R G ER S B -
B ERHER MR o )R2024 F 12
AB1 R NEBBIBREZEMER -

No. of

major suppliers

Geographical HE FEMREFEE
Hong Kong B8 13
Mainland China B Ay 10
Other countries HAiER 10
Total st 33

Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to providing quality services. In
the course of its business, the Group strictly comply with
the industry related laws and regulations in the localities
of its operation at all times, including but not limited to
the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic
of China and the Copyright Ordinance of Hong Kong.
The Group has put in place a complaint mechanism,
accordingly to which a predestinated mailbox is maintained
within the company website, particularly for the purpose of
handling customers’ inquiries and complaints.

Moreover, as the Group understands the significance of
protecting customers’ information, it has formulated a
mechanism on information confidentiality. No documents
should be taken away from its office by any staff, without
the prior consent from the department heads. In the
employment contract, the Group have stipulated that
all staff are not allowed to disclose any confidential
information in relation to either the Group or its customers
to a third party. Meanwhile, it is committed to intellectual
property protection by using licensed computer software.
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MATERIALITY MATRIX (continued)

B.

Social (continued)

B7

B8

Anti-corruption

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations related
to bribery prevention in the localities of the Group’s
operation, including but not limited to the Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong. All staff
are not allowed to solicit or accept any interests in relation
to their duties, including money, gifts, rewards, services
or privileges. Should conflict of interests incurred as the
staff carry out their obligations or accept any gifts from the
Group’s customers, suppliers, or any other parties that are
related to its business dealings, the respective staff should
declare the conflict of interests to us, so as to prevent
corruption and avoid any unnecessary misunderstanding.

Moreover, the Group invites its business partners (including
contractors, suppliers, service providers, consultants,
representatives, etc.) to comply with its Anti-bribery and
Anti-corruption Manual when performing works or services
for the Group. Where the service contract exceeds a
certain amount, the business partners are required to sign
the Anti-bribery Undertaking.

In the Year, there is no legal case concerning corruption
brought against the Group or employees.

During the Year, the Group provide 8 training hours to its
staff in relation to anti-corruption.

Community Involvement

Along with the endeavour to promote business, the Group
is also dedicated to social welfare and giving back to
society.

As global responsible citizen, the Group strives to improve
the society image and social responsibility through
community involvement. All employees of the Group are
encouraged to participate their own initiatives on helping
and supporting the local communities and neighbours.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

8 3 % SRR &
McMillanWoods

M Professionalism at the forefront

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Momentum
Financial Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Momentum Financial
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 68 to 158, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have
determined impairment of trade receivables to be the key audit matter to be
communicated in our report:
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETER

BEESEEGE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN BT NAEEBEEETSE

Impairment of trade receivables

B 5 EWRIRRRE

Refer to material accounting policy information in note 4(u), critical accounting judgement and key success of estimation uncertainty in note
5(b)(i) and its relevant disclosures in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRFERE BRI 4P EX SR ER - H17E6(0)()F BIESE & 5T AIET R (4 BT HEE 1489 F Z AR KM it21 A B9 16 152 25 -

In practice, the Group would grant credit terms to its customers
of cross-border trading of nutrition food and health care products
ranging from 60 to 180 days. To assess the impairment of trade
receivables, the Group perform periodic assessment based on
information including credit risk characteristics of each customers,
historical ageing and settlement records, subsequent settlement
status, expected timing and amount of realisation of outstanding
balances, ongoing trading relationships with the relevant
customers and forward-looking information that may impact its
customers’ ability to repay the outstanding trade receivables. These
assessments are used to estimate the expected credit loss (“ECL”)
for the impairment assessment.
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Given that trade receivables represents approximately 78% of
the Group’s total assets and the impairment assessment of trade
receivables under the ECL model involved significant management
judgements and estimates, we have identified this as a key audit
matter.
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Our audit procedures in relation to the recoverability assessment of
trade receivables included:
BME AR S ERIE R E T ERNEZEF B

= Evaluating the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over credit control, debt
collection and estimate of ECL;

— FMAFEANBEERERGEEER  ERERREREEEE
REHRET - B MBER A B RIE

- With the assistance of auditor’'s expert, assessing the
reasonableness of the Group’s ECL models by examining the
model inputs used by management to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of the historical default data,
evaluating whether the loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions variables and
assumptions used in each of the economic scenarios and
their probability weightings and assessing whether there was
an indication of management bias when recognising loss
allowances;
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- Selecting samples for the circularisation of debtor
confirmations;
— [EHEBAERIEREER

- Inspecting settlements after the financial year end relating to
the trade receivables as at 31 December 2024; and

—  BER2024F12A3 BREZEBFIEBBHO I IRFELER
BOEE S &

— Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements in relation to the Group’s
credit risk exposure and ECLs assessment.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the Other Information. The
Other Information comprises the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other
Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the Other Information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and for no other
purposes. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Man Sun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: PO7606

24/F., Siu On Centre,
188 Lockhart Road,
Wanchai,

Hong Kong

5 July 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

e kHMEEKER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALLFE

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FExT FAT
(Reclassified)
(fEEFH )
Revenue WA 8 630,131 761,781
Cost of sales SHERK A (599,278) (711,584)
Gross profit EF 30,853 50,197
Other operating (expense)/income, net Hgas (X)) MWAFE 9 (10,450) 8,143
Change in fair value of financial asset BAFEBRIEGSTE
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) (MRAFEZERBRAE])
NEeRMEEATEEZE (60) (68)
Administrative and other expenses TR R EMFSE (8,807) (12,314)
Reversal of impairment loss on RYE T & U R R E S R R
finance lease receivables 12 146
Impairment loss on trade receivables B SR IE R AR E 21 (16,457) 6.472)
Impairment loss on other receivables and H At EMGRIE R iR @ B E 18
deposits (4,641) (5,742)
(Loss)/profit from operation REKLEH (BR),SER (9,550) 33,890
Finance costs BB AN 10 (11,349) (8,523)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBLAT (B R), SRR 11 (20,899) 25,367
Income tax expense FriSfiF X 12 (2,382) (5,822)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EBR), BR (23,281) 19,545
Other comprehensive expense for the year, FRHEMZHEFIX @ fIRBIIE :
net of tax:
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: AlREER P EEBEm o HE -
Exchange differences on translating foreign EHRINE RS E A R B K E R
operations (2,616) (2,581)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income FREM(BX) WFEEE
for the year (25,897) 16,964
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

el kHMEEKER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FExT FAT
(Reclassified)
(fEEFHH )
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: R AL EEER (ER),SEF
— the owners of the Company — KARIEA A (22,345) 20,346
— non-controlling interests — FFERR (936) (801)
(23,281) 19,645
Total comprehensive (expense)/income LTATEEERZE(BIX),
for the year attributable to: Wi 4858 -
— the owners of the Company — AREHEBA (24,878) 17,847
— non-controlling interests — IEIERRE R (1,019) (883)
(25,897) 16,964
(Loss)/earnings per share (HK cents) BR (BB B GBI
Basic and diluted HEA R 15 (2.28) 2.07
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBERR R
At 31 December 2024
20244 12 A31H

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Hiat THET THT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENREE 16 5,534 6,188
Right-of-use assets (FEREEE 17 1,212 679
Interest in a joint venture R—REBDEMNER 18 - -
6,746 6,867
Current assets REEE
Inventories =8 20 64,063 25,712
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b e R IE 21 309,780 355,905
Finance lease receivables BB ERE A 19 - 553
Financial assets at FVTPL BEATEEBESTAENEHEE 22 66 126
Tax recoverables AR B 718 1,199 1,243
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIES 23 3,572 24,335
378,680 407,874
Current liabilities REIEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E AT FRIE 24 95,355 145,477
Loan from the ultimate holding company RIIERARER 25 50,000 50,000
Lease liabilities HEEE 26 593 497
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 27 6,589 17,818
Promissory notes A EE 28 91,556 -
Corporate bonds PEES 30 51,515 9,380
Tax payables e 7R 7,375 8,082
302,983 231,254
Net current assets RBEEFE 75,697 176,620
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRABEE 82,443 183,487
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 26 466 -
Promissory notes OS2 E 28 - 33,755
Corporate bonds TEESH 30 = 41,858
466 75,613
NET ASSETS BEE 81,977 107,874
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2024
2024 F
HK$’000
FHET

HK$’000
FAT 4

i

Capital and reserves

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 5 July 2025.
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EAR R

4910
100,049

104,959
2,915

ANABEE AERERS

& 31 4,910

& 33 75,171
80,081

IR 1,896

RS 81,977

107,874

Chu Kin Wang Peleus
KRR
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEREREER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AARERAER
Equity Foreign
component of currency Non-
Share Share convertible translation  Accumulated Total controlling
capital premium bonds reserve losses reserves interests Total
TaRES HMBBE
B RivEE — WEEHD e E5y BRE  FERER B

(note 33(c)(i)  (note 33(c)(i) (note 33(c)i))
(W#330)  (BE3sem)  (H#E3sc)i)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL FHT T TAL FHT T FAT T
At 1 January 2023 2023116 4910 190,049 6,640 (11,224) (108,263) 82,202 3,147 90,269
Total comprehensive income for the year £R2EMA £ - - - (2,499) 20,346 17,847 (883) 16,964
Lapse of convertible bonds AERERRS - - (6,640) - 6,640 - - -
Proceeds from non-controling FERBRFTE-BHBARN
shareholders from capital injection 5308
to a subsidiary - - - - - - 651 651
Changes in equty for the year ERERED s = (6,640) (2,4%9) 26,986 17,847 (032) 17615
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12A31 AR
1 January 2024 2024%1R1H 4910 190,049 - (13,723) (76,277) 100,049 2,915 107,874
Total comprehensive expense and FRRERSHEREREY
changes in equity for the year - - - (2,533) (22,345) (24,878) (1,019) (25,897)
At 31 December 2024 R2024 5128318 4910 190,049 - (16,256) (98,622) 75,471 1,896 81,977
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 BHIEFE

2024 2023
2024 2023 4F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM RELEEHNRER
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax BrF AT (B518), M F (20,899) 25,367
Adjustments for: FE
Bank interest income RITH B WA (8) an
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ « E R B EITE 447 492
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 662 666
Change in fair value of financial asset at FVTPL 12 A FE(E:B BB 248
TRIEEATEE 60 68
Loss on extinguishment of financial liabilities BIBEITAH EEER
by the issuance of promissory notes TRIE B EE 10,288 -
Gain on modification of promissory note CHESES: Pd ¢ - (2,272)
Gain on modification of convertible bonds CHEEA I EC P - (1,665)
Impairment loss on trade receivables B S RWGIERERE 16,457 6,472
Impairment loss on other receivables and H b EUGRIE RIZ & RERE
deposits 4,641 5,742
Reversal of impairment loss on finance lease A& TR B P WK IE R E S 1R R e
receivables (12) (146)
Finance costs BbE AR 11,349 8,523
Operating profit before working capital changes &8 & & & B §i FY 45 & 4 K 22,985 43,230
(Increase)/decrease in inventories TFEOgMm,m (38,440) 1,108
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B 5 Rk E A FEUR R TE
other receivables B8 21,502 (68,150)
Decrease in finance lease receivables L& TS eI IR R 565 5,266
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B 5N HEHAMENRIE
other payables CRA),/ 45 (23,367) 47,777
Decrease in contract liabilities AHEERD = (9,908)
Cash (used in)/from operations EEB (FTA), /FTemiES (16,755) 19,323
Tax paid BAFRIE (3,084) (4,027)
Net cash (used in)/generated from RESEE) (FrA),/Frigm
operating activities N4 F5 (19,839) 15,296
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREEFBHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received EUWERTTHILE 8 17
Net cash generated from investing activities KBEEHMER & T 8 17
E&SRERARAT /52024 73



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mMEBETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALLFE

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FE T FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM REMETENEESR
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid BERFE (1,260) (418)
Interest on lease liabilities paid Eﬁ%ﬁ‘ﬁ% BERFIE (27) (46)
Repayment of corporate bonds BELEES (2,000) (2,000)
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings RITREMEERPTEIA 1,631 9,259
Principal elements of lease payments HEMFKHERSE D (640) (642)
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BERITREMES (3,509) (4,202)
Proceeds from promissory notes BRI TS RIE 5,000 -
Proceeds from non-controlling shareholders SRR AR R E — M B A Al
from capital injection of a subsidiary Fri5 518 = 651
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEEE (A, SRS FE
financing activities (805) 2,602
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND B4 KB ZEY (B ) /21
CASH EQUIVALENTS B (20,636) 17,915
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes REFHNTE (127) (1,768)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS M1E1BNERERBESEEY
AT 1 JANUARY 24,335 8,188
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R12B31ENESRELEEY
AT 31 DECEMBER 3,572 24,335
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND REeRBEEEYNDN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash RITEBRIES 23 3,572 24,335
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e S 2R A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 BHIEFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Momentum Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
corporate information of the annual report.

As at 31 December 2024, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that Triumph Hope Limited (“Triumph Hope”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), is the immediate and
ultimate holding company of the Company; Mr. Chan Chung Shu (“Mr.
Chan”), the shareholder of Triumph Hope, is the ultimate controlling
party of the Company. Triumph Hope had pledged 501,330,000
shares of the Company as security for a term loan facility provided to
Triumph Hope by Great Wall International Investment XX Limited which
was wholly-owned by China Great Wall AMC (International) Holdings
Company Limited which was, in turn, wholly-owned by China Great
Wall Asset Management Co., Ltd..

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to the consolidation financial
statements.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (‘RMB”). These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) as the directors of the Company consider that HK$
is appropriate presentation currency for the users of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards, which in collective term
includes all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622). Material accounting policy information adopted by the Group are
discussed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for
the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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3.

76

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(@

Application of new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards and interpretation issued by the HKICPA
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2024 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
(“HK Int 5”) (Revised) Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause
Amendments to HKAS 7 and

HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards and interpretation in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
position and performance for the current and prior years and/or
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS 3. BHMFIIRKETEBUEREEDN S
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued) %8 ()
(b) New and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in (b) EEMERKERZIREIETEE

issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting standards and interpretation
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2024. The new and amendments to
HKFRS Accounting standards and interpretation include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.
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Standards — Volume 11 Wi — F115 20261 A1H
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3.

78

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (continued)

The directors of the Company are in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these new/revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards and interpretation is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements except for HKFRS 18 —
Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements which may
have impact on the entity’s results and/or financial position.
Details regarding the impact of HKFRS 18 are set out below.

HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 — Presentation of financial
statements, introducing new requirements that will help to
achieve comparability of the financial performance of similar
entities and provide more relevant information and transparency
to users. Even though HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition
or measurement of items in the consolidated financial statements,
HKFRS 18 introduces significant changes to the presentation of
financial statements, with a focus on information about financial
performance present in the statement of profit or loss, which will
affect how the Group present and disclose financial performance
in the financial statements. The key changes introduced in
HKFRS 18 relate to (i) the structure of the statement of profit
or loss, (ii) required disclosures for management-defined
performance measures (which are referred to alternative or non-
GAAP performance measures), and (iiij enhanced requirements
for aggregation and disaggregation of information.

The directors of the Company are currently assessing the impact
of applying HKFRS 18 on the presentation and the disclosures of
the consolidated financial statements.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention unless mentioned otherwise in the accounting
policies below (e.g. financial assets at FVTPL).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

A summary of the material accounting policy information applied in
the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

(@) Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties.
A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.
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80

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(@

Consolidation (continued)

All intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
an allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of
the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless
the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale). The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received or receivable.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(b)

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more
parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control. Relevant activities are
activities that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement.
When assessing joint control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder
has the practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A
joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of
the arrangement. The Group has assessed the type of each of its
joint arrangements and determined them to all be joint ventures.

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint
venture in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint venture’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and
is tested for impairment together with the investment at the end
of each reporting period when there is objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in a joint venture may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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82

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(b)

Joint arrangements (continued)

The Group’s share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that results in a
loss of joint control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that joint venture and (i) the Group’s entire
carrying amount of that joint venture (including goodwill) and
any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate, the Group continues to apply the equity method and
does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of joint ventures have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in joint venture are stated at cost less impairment losses, unless
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(©

Foreign currency translation

U

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), which is the Company’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and
of borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing

4.
(continued)
(c) Foreign currency translation (continued)
(i) Translation on consolidation
Company’s presentation currency as follows:
rate.
84
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 BHIEFE

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in the
profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual value over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

4,
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Depreciation rate

E=R

Leasehold land and buildings et REF
Office equipment WNERME
Furniture and fixtures REARETEE
Leasehold improvement THEWHEEE
Motor vehicles B

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss
on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss in the year in
which the item is derecognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(€

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value assets which, for the Group are primarily office equipments.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalize the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense
on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments to be made
under reasonably certain extension options are also included in
the measurement of the lease liability. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(€

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which
it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment of whether the Group
will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A
lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is
classified as an operating lease.
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88

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

(©)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss “FVTPL”) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(©)

(h)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(h)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest. Interest income from
the investment is calculated using the effective interest
method.

— Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”) — recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the collection
of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value
are recognised in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

- FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U

0

(k)

V)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRS Accounting Standards. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies
adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are
set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the end
of reporting period, the Group has a right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on
or before the end of the reporting period, are considered in
classifying loan arrangements with covenants as current or non
current. Covenants that the Group is required to comply with
after the reporting period do not affect the classification at the
reporting date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(m)

(n)

()

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the cross-border trading of nutrition food and
health care products is recognised when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been shipped to the
buyer’s specific location (delivery). Following delivery, the buyer
has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to
sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when on selling the
goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation
to the goods. A receivable is recognised by the Group when the
goods are delivered to the buyer as this represents the point in
time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional,
as only the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Revenue from provision of finance leasing service is recognised
using the effective interest rate implicit in the lease over the term
of the lease.

Revenue from provision of consultancy service is recognised in
accordance with the terms of the underlying agreement when the
relevant act has been completed.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
loss allowance) of the asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(P)

Employee benefits

()

(i)

(i)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a ceiling of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000 and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer
MPF contributions expected to be offsetted as a deemed
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in
term of HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and it is measured
on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit
is determined after deducting the negative service cost
arising from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
MPF contributions that have been vested with employees,
which are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(@

U]

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of transaction does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary difference.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. The Group recognised a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable
temporary difference.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(s) Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

A)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

)

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

)

(i)

(i

(iv)

(viil

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or to a parent of the Company.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(t)

(u)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade and
other receivables and finance lease receivables. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECLs for trade receivables.
The ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.
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98

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of

credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

0} The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(ii) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(i) ~ Adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade”
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating
of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

FREmZRERAE / £382024

4,

EXETEEER (H)

(u)

TREERE ()

1B/ AIEE N (&)

Tim LA AR - B A OMNKE BiiEia
30H AREERELREENEERRE
VIRMERRAMEEI - RIFAEHEAFAER
AR AMERRERIER ©

BEFELABER  HeRTARRE AR
FREGREERR  ARERKESBTAN
EERR B VIRRHEREI EAIEEM - /T
ANEERBRRATERERHEERRFE

0} TREEENRRRE

(i) EBABBRAEIREHHEEADOS

EREBEE K

(i)  WERHEELE R EBAR T EDFE
B MESRBHISEETEREANAD
mEBEHRED

AEBRR  AREBEVZMANNESE  BEXN
INEMEERTARR [IRER] - SR EINRRTAR
BENABEETIRATEOMR] Mz
EEAAREEERR - BOREZXZIHTFA
BRI BN BB -

AREFHRERIRNEERREEEE LT
FRRENEE - WEE BN ERTARER

SRS A BB E
=
99



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I S R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

100

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following

events:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

° the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

° it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

° The disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any
additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by
default date determined based on historical trend, the Group’s
understanding of the specific future financing needs of the
debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in
measuring the lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account,
except for investments in debt instruments that are measured
at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of
the financial asset in the statement of financial position.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(v) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

(w) Events after the reporting period
Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements when material.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in
note 4, the directors are required to make judgements (other than those
involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts
recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4(u) to the consolidated financial statements,
ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for
stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets.
An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define
what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the
Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumption concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.

(i) Impairment of trade and other receivables and finance

lease receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade and other receivables
and finance lease receivables based on the credit risk
associated with respective receivables. The amount of the
impairment loss based on ECL model is measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected, or
being revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade
and other receivables is approximately HK$309,139,000
(20283: HK$355,812,000), net of accumulated impairment
losses of approximately HK$46,880,000 (2023:
HK$26,725,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
finance lease receivables is approximately HK$Nil (2023:
HK$553,000). Net of accumulated impairment losses of
approximately HK$Nil (2023: HK$12,000).

FESRZERBRAT / F3R2024

5, BAREHHERGEETREMNEERER

(&)

@

(b)

RS BERZERHE
EEERAEBERBREC R A THARS M
BMRER 2 SRBKREANTE 2 A (M
TRIES R - RT3 e

1= BB AEE

MR A SR LA P - FHEEE
EEAERIBEERSEN12EARBEES
BHBETE - BRERR2NERIEEREH
BEHEEBENEETE - EEEEERERAR
B SRR RN A2 - BB
BREERFE R BMA B EERBRAEE
BNMER - RFHEENEERBETRE
BN AEESEEAEAASHMNENR
NOEERTAEEEH -

HETEEMENEERR
FRARHEERRMNRE ARG THEE
REMEMEZ T (D R EEH T EM K
FENEERBENKRAEHRKNERENE
RIEf) BT o

(i) B 5 REMEW KR G ETHE e
KRR E
AEEERERRES 8 RUGRIERRS
MEERRGEE 5 M E MR YRIE A
kR EREREFIRNEMEEEIER
EEESHE - EREHEEEREERMN
BEBRSBERIRESNENAEZEMN
FrE & K3 & 8 A S B TR R Y
FEREREZEHE - WY
REEENEBRMKGR - ERKRRE
MEEREY  AREEIAMREET
TR RIHIREBAREEE

R2024F12A318 - E5 R Efh g
U R I8 K BR T 18 49 4 309,139,000 7% 7T
(20234 : 355,812,000/ 7) * 1% 2
=1 8L {8 /&5 18 4946,880,0007% 7T (2023
£ 126,725,000 7T) °

R2024 128318 @& M & fE IR
REMEEELN AT T(2023F :
553,000/ 7T) + Mk 2R EBIEL
70 (20234 : 12,0007 7T) °

103



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I S R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALLFE

5.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset;
and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2024 were
approximately HK$5,534,000 (2023: HK$6,188,000) and
HK$1,212,000 (2023: HK$679,000) respectively.

Impairment of inventories

The Group makes provision for inventories based on an
assessment of the net realisable value of inventories.
Allowances are applied to inventories where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable
value is lower than the cost of inventories. The identification
of slow-moving stock and obsolete inventories requires
the use of judgement and estimates on the conditions
and usefulness of the inventories. The carrying amount of
inventories as at 31 December 2024 were approximately
HK$64,063,000 (2023: HK$25,712,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(iv)  Income taxes

The Group is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax and
Enterprises Income Tax (“EIT”) in the PRC. Significant
estimates are required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

During the year, income tax of approximately
HK$2,382,000 (2023: HK$5,822,000) was charged
to profit or loss based on the estimated assessable
profits. The carrying amounts of tax recoverables and tax
payables as at 31 December 2024 were approximately
HK$1,199,000 (2023: HK$1,243,000) and HK$7,375,000
(2023: HK$8,082,000) respectively.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s major financial instruments include finance lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, loan from the
ultimate holding company, lease liabilities, bank and other borrowings,
promissory notes, convertible bonds and corporate bonds. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
directors of the Company manage and monitor these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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5, BAREHHERGEETREMNEIERR
(&)

(b) “EFEREMENERNR(E)
) FriEe

REBAGAE BN EH P BRI
BE(TEEMEHR]) - REEMSHE
BN FEELEAMGE -RAR
X BRT RS REHEEREHIAN
R RETE - MZFEEENRREGAE
REYFRENSENT - AHRERK
FEFHEENMBAZAEHET
IR

REER - ERNEFHERFURFETE -
#72,382,0007% 7T (2023 £ : 5,822,000
BT METE R B Bas Nk o R 2024 F
128318 - AJREHIERERNFRED
BR T {8 9 Bl 49 & 1,199,000 7% 7t (2023
£ :1,243,000% 7T ) &% 7,375,000/ 7T
(20234 : 8,082,000/ 7T) °

6. MBEKRER

AEEMTIZSRTABEREMEEREE B
5 REAMEYGE - AT EBBREFTEN SR
BE  ROTGEHRERE BHREMENIE  &&
EERARER  EEAE  RITREMBGEE  AAR
B AmkESRAEES BHEZESRITAN
BIVERIMGEREE - 2SR T A SRR BEN
SRk (BEERR - FXEREEMERRR)  F5
R KRB E SRR o T XEF A R AR R S R
& - AABEEEREMERILERER - AR R
ANA R BREUE & R R ©

105



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I S R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALLFE

6.

106

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(@

6. MBEREE(H)

Market risk (@ ™MmHERK
Currency risk B
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in REEETTETUAEERSBERNINEES
currencies other than the functional currencies of the respective NG EEETENR S - BRAL B EEREXR
Group’s entities, which expose the Group to foreign exchange REER - AEBAE THRITEHRRIES S
rate fluctuation. The Group has certain bank balances and cash TS ELARERE - HIEREEEEER
denominated in HK$/US$/RMB which are not the functional TEEEHS o o AEBEEE 5 R EMER K
currencies of the relevant Group entities. In addition, the Group I8« RRERAFER  hEESH - TRRE
has trade and other payables, loan from the ultimate holding 5 M H ZIE T AB TTEHE MBS T IEE R &
company, corporate bonds, convertible bonds and promissory EERBNINGEEE  AMEAKEEBELN66%
notes denominated in HK$ which is not the functional currency (20284 : 61%) - Lt s * AEBERA -
of the relevant Group entity and in aggregate account for HRAARBH BT,/ ZETREENMEERIINER
approximately 66% (2023: 61%) of the Group’s total liabilities. B o
In this respect, the Group considers its exposure to foreign
currency risk is primarily in the fluctuation of RMB against HK$/
uss.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency RRERRANEBUINSHENEBEERE
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the BEREREEMT
reporting date are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =V
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 & 2023 F 2024 & 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
HK$ BT 329 383 200,152 189,601
Us$ E 752 167,564 12,645 27,054
RMB AR 13 569 - -
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HXEKRERE (&)
(@ Market risk (continued) (@ TEERE(E)
Currency risk (continued) BlE R (&)
Sensitivity analysis BREE DT
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% TRFFIAREEEEFINE H AR R E 2L
increase and decrease in exchange rates of the respective T 8 & HE B [E R38R 5% B UK E © 5% & R
reporting entity’s functional currency against the relevant foreign FEEIER A B RNEBR S INE R R AT A B BUK
currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting EbE  KRRBEEEHINEEXRAELENES
foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel IBF BBV RS - SURE DT E B E AR KA
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably INESTENEKIER - WRHREHARIEZS%H
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity ERFBALREY - URRE DN EIEINBER
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated (HEMEMWIFERAZINEEE) o MAHR
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the EEMEBANEES X EREINEFAESS © A
reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. WTRIES(B#) RRRTAER SRR
The sensitivity analysis includes external loans where the o CR) o taRTh e &M X A INE R E
denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the functional 5% + Blg¥sFl /(B8 EXRESRERN
currency of the borrower. A positive/(negative) number below FE M INNHNERKEINREH - ZATE
indicates an increase/(decrease) in post-tax loss/profit where the BB E2023F 12 A 31 BIEFEMERRELERE
respective functional currencies of the reporting entity strengthen 1T e
5% against the relevant foreign currencies. For a 5% weakening
of the respective functional currencies against the relevant foreign
currencies, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the profit/(loss), and the balances below would be negative. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for the year ended 31
December 2023.
HK$ Us$ RMB
BT EY AR
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 4 2023 % 2024 % 20234 2024 % 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FAT TET FAT FTERT FAT
Impact on post-tax HERRTIEER/
loss/profit for the year g llz0)-Z 8,343 (7,900) 497 5,866 (1) 24
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging RNEE B I EINEEPBE - KREBBZRY)

policy. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

FREmZRERAE / £382024
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108

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(@

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
finance lease receivables, convertible bonds, promissory notes,
corporate bonds, loan from the ultimate holding company and
lease liabilities. The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider other necessary action when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s variable-rate bank balances are short-term in nature
and the exposure of the cash flow interest rate risk is minimal.

Except as stated above, the Group does not have other
significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities at the end of
the reporting period. Its income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of change in market interest rate.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investment
in listed equity securities. The Group’s equity price risk is
mainly concentrated on equity instruments quoted in The Stock
Exchange. The Group has appointed a special team to monitor
the price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure should
the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting
period.

If the prices of the respective equity instrument had been 5%
(2023: 5%) higher/lower, the post-tax loss for the year ended
31 December 2024 would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$3,000 (2023: the post-tax profit would increase/decrease by
HK$5,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of the financial
asset at FVTPL.
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit
risk from its operating activities (primarily trade and finance
lease receivables) and from its financing activities, including
deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange
transactions and other financial instruments. The Company’s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents
is limited because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with high credit-rating assigned by international
credit-rating agencies, for which the Company considers to have
low credit risk.

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to
the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating
to customer credit risk management. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivable are due within 60-180 days from the
date of billing. Debtors with balances that are more than 1 month
past due are requested to settle all outstanding balances before
any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group has significant concentrations of credit risk as 57%
(20283: 50%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from
three customers. The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the credit risk exposure in relation to these customers is
not significant as these customers had sound financial position
for whom there was no recent history of default. In addition, the
Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.

The Group measures loss allowance for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss (“ECL”), which is
calculated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtors and adjusted by forward looking
factors. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different customer
base.

FESRZERBRAT / F3R2024
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HXEKRER (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERREE)
Trade receivables (continued) B 5 fE M TE (48)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TR A& B 74 2024 F % 2023 F 12 A 31
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 HERNEERRLRE S ERUGRIEZ BHEE
December 2024 and 2023: Bl &E :
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEEE REAAE EBERE
At 31 December 2024 % HK$’000 HK$’000
"2024%F12H31H % THExT F#ET
Current (not past due) BUER (37 4% 260 A ) 0.63% 300,131 1,883
1-60 days past due @1 E=60H 5.50% 1,709 94
61-120 days past due BEI61 =120 B N/ATREHR = =
121-180 days past due BHEA121 =180 H N/ATREHR = =
More than 180 days past due #HEA180 B LA 100.00% 32,883 32,883
334,723 34,860
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEERE 1B FRE&EE EEEE
At 31 December 2023 % HK$’000 HK$'000
M 2023412 431 H % TET FHT
Current (not past due) BIVHR (M 280 R ) 0.16% 257,858 412
1-60 days past due w1 E60H 3.49% 73,995 2,585
61-120 days past due #HEI61 =120 H 7.79% 9,333 727
121-180 days past due #HE121 2180 H 20.02% 5,245 1,050
More than 180 days past due BHEI180 H A £ 97.55% 14,562 14,206
360,993 18,980
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Finance lease receivables

All the finance lease receivables were secured by the leased
assets and customers’ deposits. There was no recent history
of default of debtor and finance lease receivables are settled in
accordance to the payment schedules.

The following table provides information about the Group’s ECLs
for finance lease receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

6.

MEEREE (F)
(b) FERRGE
BB EEMYAE

EREHERKIAMBEEERTFPES
i - T REBARNLE > MRERE
FEUCKRIBTIR BN RS RREE -

TRIBMHE R 2024 F K 2023F12 A31 B A&
EREHERKKBZEHEEBENER

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEEE IREAE EREE
At 31 December 2024 % HK’$000 HK’$000
A20245F12H31H % FET FERT
Lifetime ECL ZHITRERE BB 1R N/A 7 A - =
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TREAEIE X BREfAE EiE R
At 31 December 2023 % HK’$000 HK’$000
7K20283F 12 A31H % FHET FET
Lifetime ECL 2 HEEE B ISR 2.12% 565 12

The Group has no concentration of credit risk of finance lease
receivables, as Nil (2023: 100%) and Nil (2023: 100%) of the
finance lease receivables as 31 December 2024 was due
from the Group’s largest lessee and the five largest lessees
respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for finance lease
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which is
calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases.

FREmZRERAE / £382024

M2024F 12 A31 H » AEBWEFEREE
WHBEERBRESR - THERREREEHZK
FAARAREAAZBERS EBKFIEN
Lt 2 Bl A= (20234 : 100%) K& Z (20234 -
100%) °

AEBIZBENEPBHEEBE (ERBE
BEFE)NSEMEREEEREGENE
BRYE - ANAKENELEREBREEY &
BHTRAEFDBANBEREA2RENE
2 ORUBERAEENRFFIE - SN E
REIIRR B IR B
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6.

112

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6.

(b)

Credit risk (continued)
Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the Group recognises

lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in

credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk

on these balances has not increased significantly since initial

recognition, the Group measures loss allowance for these

balances, equal to 12-months ECL. The directors make periodic

collectively assessments as well as individual assessment on the

recoverability of other receivables and deposits.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, impairment loss on other

receivables and deposits are recognised at the following basis:

MEEREE ()
(b) fFEERREGE
B WA R LS

FEMERFERZEME @ MEERRE T

EEEIE - A - MEZSEHRNEERR B Y]
FHERIARI BB ZIE NN - AR R EIZERR
1R2EARBEEERRZSERTEBHERE
1 - EXTE Y HMRKGAERIRS AR E
PEETT SR R AE R RS -

MR 2024 F K 2023F 12 A31 H @ Hfth gl X
18 Rz S KR E RS 1B IR DA R B 2ERER

12-month Lifetime
ECL ECL Total

1218 A 25
EHEERE EHEEEE st
At 31 December 2024 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
M2024512831H FET FET FET

Gross amount FREAE

Internal grade — performing (stage 1) NEPER — RAF (BB 1) 2,076 - 2,076
Internal grade — underperforming (stage 2) PR — TR (BEEE2) - 19,220 19,220
Internal grade — default (stage 3) NEER — EL (FEER3) = = =
2,076 19,220 21,296

Expected loss rate % FEHEEEX % 3.85% 62.12%
Loss allowance EiE R 80 11,940 12,020

12-month Lifetime
ECL ECL Total

1218 A 2 H
FEHEEEE EHEEEE RET
At 31 December 2023 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
72023412 A31H FHET FHEIT FHET

Gross amount FREAE

Internal grade — performing (stage 1) AEER — R (FEEE1) 10,082 - 10,082
Internal grade — underperforming (stage 2) WEZEH — TR (BEE2) - 11,462 11,462
Internal grade — default (stage 3) A ER — EX (FEER3) - - -
10,082 11,462 21,544

Expected loss rate % TEAIEIEE % 5.88% 62.40%
Loss allowance gt 593 7,152 7,745
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HXEKRERE (&)
(¢) Liquidity risk () REBELRE
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected AEENBERAEHERB A RBRARSES
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient FE UEREAREHESHE  BANHEE
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short HARBERBORBDESTE °
and longer term.
The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at TREHAEEENARURRCRE (BIERE
the end of each reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, AERAMEFENFENR - KOBZEE - &
based on undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments RRE BN ARRFR) RAEBAZERE
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates NHEFAHARERERRNEBABRTE
current at the reporting date) and the earliest date the Group can KEIEAH -
be required to pay.
The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities based on AEBUSHRBRBRERNEREENCHE
contractual undiscounted cash flow is as follows: BEIEBA ST -
More than Total
Within one one year contractual
yearoron butless than undiscounted Carrying
demand two years cash flow amount
R—FR —FpHE HBEHRER
WIRER TEBME RERE BRE &
At 31 December 2024 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
M2024512H31H TR TET TET TET
Non-derivative financial liabilities HITESRARE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H At FE T FRIE 95,184 = 95,184 95,184
Lease liabilities HERE 636 477 1,113 1,059
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 6,732 - 6,732 6,589
Loan from the ultimate BRIEZERRBER
holding company 50,000 - 50,000 50,000
Corporate bonds TrEES 52,506 = 52,506 51,515
Promissory notes AHEE 93,262 - 93,262 91,556
298,320 477 298,797 295,903
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HXEKRER (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) () REEZREME (E)
More than Total
Within one one year contractual
year or on less than undiscounted Carrying
demand two years cash flow amount
R—FR —FLAEE  BEHREER
HIRER TR B REnE BREE
At 31 December 2023 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
M2023F 12 A31H FATT FAT FAT FAT
Non-derivative financial liabilities FITECREE
Trade and other payables 5 REMENRIAE 145,283 - 145,283 145,283
Lease liabilities HE&E 508 - 508 497
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 18,410 = 18,410 17,818
Loan from the ultimate BEERARER
holding company 50,000 - 50,000 50,000
Corporate bonds PEES 9,380 44,850 54,230 51,238
Promissory notes BARE - 35,379 35,379 33,755
223,581 80,229 303,810 298,591
(d) Capital management @ BAEE

114

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group’s entities
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank and other
borrowings, promissory notes, convertible bonds, corporate
bonds and lease liabilities, less bank balances and cash and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share
capital and reserves as disclosed in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

Management reviews the capital structure regularly. The
management considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital, and will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues as well as the raising of bank loans.

REEEREERAERBBECERBEEAR
17 BECRF AR S R R RIRE AR EET
ERREMISELYE - ARE BRI EATE
FEAAR -

REEZ EARBRIFRITREMEER - &R
RiE - AHRRES  CEEFREEREG
BRIRTTHEBLIRS) RARBEE ARGES
(BEGARREBHRMRBENRALHER) -

EEETHENEARE ERESEEEAL
B - REERRBIEAIAR 2 Bk o AR
XABRE - BITHRREERITER - UTE
HEBBENRERE -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6.

(d) Capital management (continued)

()

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. This ratio is calculated
as net debts divided by total equity. Net debts is calculated
as bank and other borrowings, promissory notes, convertible

bonds, corporate bonds and lease liabilities, less bank balances

and cash, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial

position. Total equity represents the balance as “Total equity”

shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

B EBRERE (F)

EAREE (8)

A& B AR IR B = 2024 FF 220234 12 A 31 H
BB B R REEIEE R o % b RILFEEIR LA
RRERTE - FEBERESMBRARAT
RESRTTREMMEE A BE - ATRERES
TrEGFREEAEFIRRITEARRE)
FTE MERERNGEUBRARETNR TR
] AR

2024 2023

2024 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Lease liabilities (note 26) HEEE (MFE26) 1,059 497
Loan from ultimate holding company IR R E R (M5 25)

(note 25) 50,000 50,000
Bank and other borrowings (note 27) RITREMER (HiE27) 6,589 17,818
Promissory notes (note 28) 5= (FiE28) 91,556 33,755
Corporate bonds (note 30) EESH (MFE30) 51,515 51,238
Less: Bank balance and cash W BRITESNIRS (3,572) (24,335)

197,147 128,973
Total equity WBEREZS 81,977 107,874
Gearing ratio BELE 240.49% 119.56%
(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 December () M12ANHMERMIANE

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Financial assets: SREE :
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATFEBRBERTTENEREAE 66 126
Financial assets at amortised cost RHEKATTENEREE 312,711 380,700
312,777 380,826

Financial liabilities: SEasE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REEKATENSRAE 294,844 298,094
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

() Fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair values.

RS AR E R ()
0 AVE

AEBFRAVHIRARRRO SR EER SR
BEZREEEESEAFEMES -

(9) Fair values measurements (90 2AFENFE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or ATHERTH2RENTEANETERFR

paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market SN EEEMERERE B HHER -

participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures AT AT EFERENRASARGEATE

of fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that NEERT2EEI2A=ABHKZ A TFEER

categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques fEH :

used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group
can access at the measurement date.

E—RER2H REBATNETE ARG 2 ERAEEL B BEERT S 2 ME CREAR) -

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

E_RER2H E-BRAMBRIBREBEUIN EEIEENEEXBBIHRE2H -

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

BE=ZRER2H BENBEZTAEBR2H -
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in

circumstances that caused the transfer.

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December:

AEBMBER AN BIRE LSRR LB TSR
FERE B RER B — AR & A — AR R
EEY Ve Tari

@ H12ATHNAFERBHREE

Fair value measurements using:

EAUTERGBHNQTE :

Fair value Valuation technique
Financial instruments Fair value as at hierarchy and key inputs
SRITH RTHEHHNATE DNFEER REFERETESH
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial asset at FVTPL — 66 126 Level 1 Quoted price in an
listed equity securities active market
RATEZEBERTEN E—ER BT IS 2 BB

SREE — EhERES
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7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

7.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Operating segment information
The Group is engaged in the (i) provision of finance leasing and

consultancy services in finance leasing business (earning interest

income, handling fee and consultancy fee) and purchasing of leased

assets; and (i) cross-border trading business of nutrition food and
health care products.

@)

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable and operating segment.

7 EE R

EED BN ERTBREGA P B HRM T4t &5t
BERAAR °

REsBER
ARERE()AREREXGANREHBERERE
AR (RIRABWA - FEELFARNE) RUKEE
BEE: M) ZBREMFRERBEESER -

@  DEWAKEE
AT RAERE ZRAREEZA 2R RLED
BB 2 AT ©

Cross-border trading

Provision of finance business of nutritional
leasing and food and health
consultancy services care products Others Total
REREHER EERAR
EARY RERBREZER Hitr by
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
20214 %F 2023 2024 % 2023 2024F 2023 2024 F 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiEn Fix FiEx TR FiEn TR TR
Years ended 31 December BZE12 A1 ALEE
Revenue from external customers R ESMIR B &M 138 277 629,993 761,305 - 199 630,131 761,781
Segment (loss)/profit A (EE)/ & (1,654) (828) 11,144 41,600 (2,991) (4,487) 6,499 36,285
Loss on extinguishment of ERETELEE
financial liabilties by the RREREEN
issuance of promissory notes ~ [&18 (10,288) -
Gain on modification of CHESES e
promissory note W& = 2,212
Gain on modification of CHER v
convertible bonds Wias - 1,665
Written back on accruals EEETER - 3,386
Unallocated other operating RAMEMLEYA
income 17 13
Change in fair value of financial AT ERBRR
asset at FVTPL HENSRAED
ATEE (60) (68)
Unallocated expenses FAREX (5.872) (9,663)
Finance costs BERA (11,349) (8523)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BHial (BE) /%7 (20,899) 25,367
117
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7.

118

@)

®)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. HER(E)
Operating segment information (continued) KeEn “E‘B‘éﬂ (#&)
Segment revenues and results (continued) @  DERARELE ()
Revenue under the other segment represents mainly income Eﬁﬂ"ﬁBIETZHSU\I;(?aXQﬁH;EF"% H
derived from website advertising and other consultancy income, RN - TR A EB 2| D BOE
which does not meet the quantitative threshold of a separate EHE
reportable segment.
Segment results represent the profit/(loss) by each segment DMEBEE DB mH,(BiE) CREHER
without allocation of gain on modification of promissory notes, BRI A R EZEZ I - BBk ES 2K
gain on modification of convertible bonds, loss on extinguishment &= BEBITERLEBREREREERNEIS -
of financial liabilities by the issuance of promissory notes, written REEFER RATHEHEBERTENS
back on accruals, change in fair value of financial asset at FVTPL, BMEENATFEEZS  AHOEAXRBER
unallocated expenses and finance costs. This is the measure ) o Bk L EIRD FL R AT 9 BB R IR M | 3=
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes DRBEBRREZR L
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
Segment assets and liabilities b) SEHEEREE
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Segment assets ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ
Cross-border trading business of ERMEREBERBEEE FER
nutrition food and health care products 366,390 391,059
Finance leasing business MEREXES 3,764 3,585
Others Hith 5,653 9,848
Total segment assets DEPEELE 375,807 404,492
Unallocated corporate assets AN ECEEE 9,619 10,249
Total assets BEMAE 385,426 414,741
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Operating segment information (continued)

®)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, these was no
addition of non-current assets to the reportable segments of the

Group (2023: Nil).

7. 2HERE)

rEAER (FE)
) PEHEERAEE)

BE2024F 12 A31 BIEFE ' AEBHRED
BRE) IE R BN B EE N M IE N (2023 4F : M) ©

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T THT
Segment liabilities PBEME
Cross-border trading business of LEERMERERBRE SEK
nutrition food and health care products 89,302 103,705
Finance leasing business BEHE R 139 409
Others Eh 10,151 10,976
Total segment liabilities HE B EBTE 99,592 115,090
Unallocated corporate liabilities RoBbERE 203,857 191,777
Total liabilities BEERE 303,449 306,867
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and MERSPRBARSEDEEERME ¢
allocating resources between segments:
o all assets are allocated to operating segments other than .

financial asset at FVTPL and other assets for corporate
use including certain property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets, tax recoverables, bank balances and

cash and other receivables which were managed in a

centralised manner.

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other .
than certain other payables, loan from the ultimate holding
company, convertible bonds, promissory notes, corporate
bonds, lease liabilities and income tax payables which

were managed in a centralised manner.

FREmZRERAE / £382024

BEEEADRELENE  ETEHE
hRCERNEATEBBERITEN
SREENRBRARZENHMEE
(BREETYE BERRE A%
B AREIIA - |RITEBREIRE A
R B A FEWIR) o

EBEODRELEN L ETE
EhREENE T EMmENHRIE -
BB AR ER - AIRERES « AL
RiE - oxEr  HERBERENRE
Tt e
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7.
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©

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. HER(E)
Operating segment information (continued) K EER (&)
Geographical information () Hh 7 E L
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the AEERNLEMIMURESRFPEARLFNEH
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC?”). ([#E]) -
Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers AR ER BN BV A B B R TR E i
is presented based on the location of the operations is detailed B2 FBENT
below:
For the year ended 2024 For the year ended 2023
HZ2024F1LFE BE203FILEE
Revenue from Revenue from
contract with From other contract with From other
customers sources Total customers sources Total
EFEHNKBA A E AR @it EPALMRA At 2RI et
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TR TR THT THER
The PRC T - 138 138 66,198 277 66,475
Hong Kong B 629,993 - 629,993 695,306 - 695,306
629,993 138 630,131 761,504 277 761,781

The Group’s information about its non-current assets based on
the geographical location of the assets is detailed below:

ERAEBEREEBRE DN EENE

R -

Non-current assets

FRBEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
The PRC i 5,694 6,408
Hong Kong 5 1,052 459
6,746 6,867

Note: Non-current assets excluded finance lease receivables.

ffit - JERBEETSIERERERUGIR
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Operating segment information (continued)

(d)  Information about major customers

7.

Revenue from the customers contributing over 10% of the total

7 EER ()

KREoBER (F)
@ EFEEFHEH

REMEAEEBEA10%IA EHEF AL

revenue of the Group are as follows: e
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Cross-border trading of nutrition foodand “EBEZRFERGAEEES5H
health care products segment
Customer A Z2EA 125,748 273,634
Customer B ZFEB 70,142 92,860
Customer C BFEC 140,033 A
o The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the & MR S RS B 4B WA 10% A L -

Group’s total revenue.

8. REVENUE

8.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

Disaggregated by major products or service line

L'ON

AREBFAWASTAT :

BEIRERBMBRIDE

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers REBUBREEDE15KEE
within the scope of HKFRS 15 AKRBEFEFEHHERA
— Cross-border trading of nutrition food and —EERMERERBERES
health care products 629,993 761,305
— Consultancy service income — AR BWA = 199
629,993 761,504
Revenue from other sources HnsRRHA
— Interest income from provision of — RERHEREBERSEH
finance leasing service F B WA 138 277
630,131 761,781
121
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8.

122

REVENUE (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue by timing of recognition

WA (&)

RWAERRBEIERSD B

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FHT

Timing of revenue recognition U A R SR B
— At a point in time — AL 629,993 761,360
— Over time — BERSRETT = 144
Total revenue from contract with customers RERFEHBRABEE 629,993 761,504

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of
HKFRS 15 to its revenue contracts of consultancy and other services
such that the above information does not include information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the revenue contracts of consultancy
and other services that had an original expected duration of one year or
less.

AEEDKEBMBREEAEISHE 121 TR
AIfTHRETDEERRR AR AN EMRBOKRA 4
Hit - B ER A BREAEEERETZE AR EMm
RBH s O (REFEOMRA—FHER) A
TRIBRIE KB T 15 B S R s OB HY -
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9. OTHER OPERATING (EXPENSE)/INCOME, NET 9. Hhi&e (BX) WAFEHE
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHBT
Bank interest income RITH S A 8 17
Exchange (loss)/gain, net BE X, (E518), W F 58 (333) 309
Loss on extinguishment of financial liabilities by BRBETRLEBERSRAERD (10,288) =
the issuance of promissory notes E518
Gain on modification of promissory note BRI AHER 2 W - 2,272
Gain on modification of convertible bonds (note 29) (ST AT P& &% 2 Wizs (FIEE29) - 1,665
Sundry income MEIEWA 163 494
Written back on accruals B EEE A - 3,386
(10,450 8,143
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. @MER A
2024 2023
2024 &£ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on: Flg -
— bank and other borrowings — RITREMEE 2,505 1,321
— shareholder’s loan — RERER 4,750 4,750
Effective interest expenses on: ERAERY :
— promissory notes — AHERE 1,551 648
— corporate bonds — EEFH 2,516 1,758
— lease liabilities — HEAE 27 46
11,349 8,523
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11.

124

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

(Loss)/profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

11. BBaT(BE), B

FR(ER),SEFIEM(GEA) FHIER :

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAIT
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EEREETHRAEMNE 629 912
Salaries and other allowances (excluding HeREMEM(TREES
directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments) EEm{TBRAEME) 2,918 2,748
Retirement benefit scheme contributions (excluding BAREFEFEIERNCTIRREES
directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments) EEE1TERASME) 199 195
Total staff costs B TR A B 3,746 3,855
Auditor’s remuneration A&
— Audit services — ZEAR® 750 750
— Non-audit services — AR 100 100
Amount of inventories recognised as an expense BRARAINTFESHE 599,223 711,311
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Yz BEREETE 447 492
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENE 662 666
Exchange loss/(gain), net PE M 518, (Wes ) 558 333 (309)
Loss on extinguishment of financial liabilities by BBEITA S EIEER
the issuance of promissory notes CRBENBE 10,288 -
Gain on modification of promissory notes BRI EH R 2 W - (2,272)
Gain on modification of convertible bonds 1EET A AR E % 2 W = (1,665)
Impairment loss on trade receivables B 5 EWGRIE R EE 18 16,457 6,472
Reversal of impairment loss on finance lease receivables & 8 & & Ug FR I8 8 (B B 18 # o] (12) (146)
Impairment loss on other receivables and deposits E bW GIE Rk e mEBE 4,641 5,742
Lease payments in respect of short-term EHEERSMNEREEHE
operating lease for rented premises HEER K 221 498
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Current tax REATRIE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBFISH
— Provision for the year — FREHE 2,853 6,071
— Overprovision in prior years — BAFEBERE (472) S
2,381 6,071
PRC EIT B2 PRISER
— Provision for the year — FREE = 24
— Under/(over) provision in prior years — BEFEREBTR (BERE) 1 (273)
1 (249)
2,382 5,822

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax Regime, one of the Company’s Hong
Kong subsidiaries is subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of
8.25% for the first HK$2 million of its estimated assessable profits and
at 16.5% on its estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. Other
Hong Kong subsidiaries not qualifying for the two-tiered Profit Tax
Regime are subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 16.5% for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The tax rate applicable to the Group’s PRC subsidiaries were 25%
(2023: 25%) during the year.

FESRZERBRAT / F3R2024

BEMBRGIFESHREE - KRR ER—HEFTENBR
AIAREMFERTENOE 2B BB TiZ8.25% 4
MBEBFSH R AT ERTUE BB E BT
DI 16.5% HME BTG o B = 2024 F % 2023
F12 A1 BIEFE - HAb RS AR SIFIS 5 I E
WEBHBAREL16.5% BMEBNEH -

RERN > AEBMOPBENMEBERRERNKHEA25%
(20234 : 25%) °
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HZE2024F 12 A31 ALLFE

12.

126

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/profit
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

FriS®ipa < (%)

% EFE M TRIAR A ENR & Bk M E Mt 2
=z BREiAT (&) //ﬁﬁ*'JxTEEZIDT :

comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAIT

(Loss)/profit before tax BrEi AT (EER),EH (20,899) 25,367

Tax at domestic tax rate of 16.5% BAMFEA16.5% 1 H 2 FiE (3,448) 4,185

Tax effect of expense not deductible RIS R BE

for tax purposes 4,093 307

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes /B3R UL A K B 75 57 2 (2) (650)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR AT IEE BN G 2 1,149 652

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries Bt B R B AN [RI A o ) 2 2 (2,303) (851)

Tax effect of temporary different not recognised WAREREREENRETE 4,161 2,634

Over provision in prior years BEFE ;t%ﬁﬁfﬂ% (471) (273)

Effect of two-tiered profits tax rates regime AR IR AF B X B 2 (165) (165)

Tax reduction BIBR 2 (2) )
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously )@ AR FER AT IEEIEH

recognised Mg (630) (14)

Income tax expenses for the year FRAEHEX 2,382 5,822

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$31,480,000 (2023: HK$30,702,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately HK$10,432,000 (2023: HK$5,836,000) that will expire
after five years from the year of assessment to which they relate. Other
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law, a withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared
in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008
onwards.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, deferred taxation amounted
to approximately HK$183,000 (2023: HK$3,420,000) has not been
provided in the consolidated financial statements regarding to profits by
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

RIREEIR - AN E A ARE) A HIEE 1B 47 31,480,000
770 (20234 : 30,702,000/ 7T ) A] K $i5 15 2R F) o
A AR BETEOR B 1855 I OR - i & B F T8 S R 1R
BIETRIEE E o st A ARER %RIEJ%%EWEW%%EZ’U
10,432,000 7T (2023 & : 5,836,000 7% 7T ) #§ 1A E2 H
B2 TR FE R AERER Efmﬁéﬁa‘mﬁﬁ,ﬁﬂ
g o

RBBEMSHE - P REMEARMK2008F1 A1
A LA BRE A i A1) B R KO B S B TE 0 FR

R 20244 [ 20234 12 A31 B » WENGA B
RN FH AR @ R BB A A A R R IR IEIE R IE 4
183,000 7T (2023 4F : 3,420,000 7T ) * JH A A&

BRI TR RO NNE R TR EREA TS
ﬁéﬁﬁﬂimﬁé@ o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F12 A31 B ILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

(@)

Directors’ emoluments

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended 31

December 2024 and 2023.

Details of emoluments paid and payable to the directors of the

13. EERSHREEBIMS

(@ E=ME

H E2024F K% 2023F 12 A31HILFE « #
EEEWNEXRBNEEAHNS AL -

RERENRENARARSESNIMSF BN

Company for the year are as follows: T
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE2024F 1231 AILFE
Emoluments paid or payable in respect Retirement
of a person’s services as a director, benefits
whether of the Company and its Salaries and scheme
subsidiary undertakings Fees allowances contributions Total
UTALERAZXARIEMBARNES BIRER
RERBHEELSERHE [ FeRER R st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FTHET THER THET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Liu Xin Chen (i) RIMELEND - 120 - 120
Mr. Zhang Rujie (vii) SRAAVE 5 A (Vi) - 240 - 240
Mr. Zhou Yihong (v R (1) - 9 - 9
Independent non-executive directors BV FHTESE
Mr. Man Wai Lun () SEBEE() 40 - - 40
Mr. Zhou Zhencun (i) BARTE A () 47 - - 47
Mr. Chen Yongping (i) BR K S 5 A (i) 47 - - 47
Mr. Sin Ka Man (i) R S A i) p - - #
Ms. Liang Lina (iv) R (iv) 40 - - 40
Mr. Chen Yifan (v) BR—sEE W) 39 - - 39
Ms. Huang Chunlian (vj) HEEZ T (V) 6 - - 6
260 369 - 629
127
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALLFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 13. ESREREEENHS (&)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) E=M=(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023F 1231 AILFE
Emoluments paid or payable in respect Retirement
of a person’s services as a director, benefits
whether of the Company and its Salaries and scheme
subsidiary undertakings Fees allowances contributions Total
ATATEARARSEMNBARES RRAER
RERBHERENI RS e o loRah IR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Liu Xin Chen (i) RIMMBLLE() - 360 - 360
Mr. Zhang Rujie (vii) SRAAVE 5T A (Vi) = 240 - 240

Independent non-executive directors BV FHTES

Mr. Man Wai Lun () XEBEE() 120 - - 120

Mr. Zhou Zhencun (i) RS 4 (i) % - - 96

Mr. Chen Yongping (i) BR oK 56 A (i) 96 - - 96
312 600 - 912

Notes: et -

i) Resigned on 30 April 2024 0] 2024 & 4 A 30 HEHT

(ii) Retired on 26 June 2024 (ii) 2024 56 A26 HRE

(i) Appointed on 29 August 2024 (iii 202458 A29 HEZ T

(iv) Appointed on 2 September 2024 (iv) 202469 A2 HEZE

v) Appointed on 3 September 2024 v) 202459 A3AEZ T

(vi) Appointed on 30 April 2024 and retired on 26 June 2024 (vi) 20245 4 A30 BEEE - WH202456 A

26 HEHE
(vii) Resigned on 7 February 2025 (vii) 202542 A7 HEHE
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 13. EERSHREEBNHS (&)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEM=
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, HZE2024F 12 A BIEFEEAREE R B &
one (2023: two) was director and the chief executive of the SEMALH - —&(2023%F : WE) BARQ
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 whose emolument AEERERTHRAE - BENMSE XX
is included in the disclosures in note 13(a) above. The emoluments T3P E - Hepm4E (20234F : =%&) A
of the remaining four (2023: three) individuals were as follows: THMSAT -
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Salaries and other allowances e RE MR, 1,493 1,026
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BB T B 65 43
1,558 1,069
The emoluments of the remaining four (2023: three) individual BT (20234 : =8) ATHBMEEUT
were within the following bands: #BER :
Number of individuals
A
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T 4 3
There was no discretionary bonus paid or payable to any of the REE2024F F2023F 12 AB1AILEFER -
directors and the five highest paid individuals during the years WERENEERAZEDTMATE[FkE
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. RERIBIBIEAL o
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no REZE2024F K 20283F 12 A1 HIEFEA -
emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to the directors, AEBVEDNNENAEREE S5517K
chief executive or the five highest paid individuals of the Group ABRAEEEFHALEE - LEAKSEIN
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a AN 2 E 5l A N £ [ R O B2 B Sk BRER A (E o
compensation for loss of office.
(¢) Senior management’s emoluments () EHREEENE
Senior management represents the executive directors. The EREREENTESE - RAFEE NSRS
emoluments paid or payable to senior management during the TERERENNEEHN EX20H DT -
year have been set out in the analysis presented above.
(d) Directors’ material interests in transactions, d) EERRS - HHEHNNERER

arrangements or contracts

No significant transaction, arrangement and contract in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company and the director’s connected
party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year of at any time during the year.

FREmZRERAE / £382024

RAFERERERAFEREMER - L7
EARAR VAR REXBERAMARR—H
EEREENEENERABEEEERER
BENEARS  RHREH

129



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I S R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALLFE

14. DIVIDENDS 14. KRB
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 December HZE2024F12 A1 BIEFER * AR RN 5k
2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the BRIRMNERRE - BWEER - EERIRNEMR
reporting period (2023: Nil). BB (2023 4F : £E) o
15. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. SR (E58E) &R
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share NN RS AL SR EAR R EE (F18) /& F TR
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following data: BUATSUERTE -
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Loss)/earnings (E58), &7
(Loss)/earnings for the year attributable to the A EFRERN(EER) B
owners of the Company for the purpose of AARER ANEHEA
basic (loss)/earnings per share (&518) /& F| (22,345) 20,346
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
’000 ‘000
TR FR
Number of shares RHEHE
Weighted average number ordinary shares M EEREARE SR
for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings EIBAR NN 8
per share 982,000 982,000
No diluted (loss)/earnings per share has been presented as there HRE E 2024 F K 2023%F 12 A 31 H 1FF & I £ 3%
were no potential dilutive shares outstanding for the years ended 31 THEINNEEEEIRG WA EEHGIREE(E
December 2024 and 2023. 18),/&F -
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HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y%  WERRE

Leasehold Furniture
land and Office and Leasehold Motor
buildings  equipment  equipment improvement vehicles Total
HELH HE
REF BAERE HEREE MELE RE Bzt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FET FET FHT TR
Cost %S
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 18 9,173 6,881 2,354 1,196 729 20,333
Exchange realignment [ 5 A% (240) (178) (45) (24) - (487)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12 A31 B K
1 January 2024 202451 A1H 8,933 6,703 2,309 1,172 729 19,846
Exchange realignment [& 5 % (313) (233) (59) (31) - (636)
At 31 December 2024 R2024512831 8 8,620 6,470 2,250 1,141 729 19,210
Accumulated depreciation 2t E
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 3,142 6,635 2,248 722 729 13,476
Charge for the year FRMkK 404 74 - 14 - 492
Exchange realignment [& 5 3% (84) (172 (43) (11) - (310)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12 A31B R
1 January 2024 2024%1A18 3,462 6,537 2,205 725 729 13,658
Charge for the year FRk 396 49 - 2 - 447
Exchange realignment fE R AR (130) (228) (56) (15) - (429)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12A31A8 3,728 6,358 2,149 712 729 13,676
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December 2024 202451283108 4,892 112 101 429 - 5,534
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12 A31H 5,471 166 104 447 - 6,188
F#eRMIERERAT / F52024 131
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17.

132

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FRHEEE
Leased
Leased motor
properties vehicles Total
HEWE HERE st
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FHET
At 1 January 2023 20231 A1 H 1,071 281 1,352
Depreciation e 612) (54) (666)
Exchange realignment M = (7) (7)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023%F 12 A31 H X
1 January 2024 20241 A1H 459 220 679
Additions NE 1,202 - 1,202
Depreciation e (609) (53) (662)
Exchange realignment [E 5 3% = (7) (7)
At 31 December 2024 MR2024F 12 A31H 1,052 160 1,212

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$1,059,000 (2023: HK$497,000)
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$1,212,000 (2023: HK$679,000) as at 31 December 2024. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessors. Leased motor

K 2024F 12 31 H + #1,059,0007%8 7T (20234 :
497,000/ 7T) M E B 52 £2471,212,0007% 7T (2023
4 1 679,000 70) M MERAE A EE E —RRER ° B

HEARANEEEE 2 ERERIN -

HEWZET

e 0 AE fa] 22 49 - AR [ 1B 49 160,000 7T (2023 4 :

vehicles with carrying amount of approximately HK$160,000 (2023: 220,000/ 70) B EREEREEALAEBRRES
HK$220,000) was pledged as security for the Group’s lease liabilities. BEER
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHAT
Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets FREEENTERS 662 666
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAGRNFEMX GTAMBEZE)
(included in finance costs) 27 46
Lease payments in respect of short-term BREERSAMNEHGEHEED
operating lease for rented premises HERR 221 498

The Group leases office, staff quarters and motor vehicles for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 2 years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable.

ARERLEEEENAE -
BMERER A2 - BEFRDRENEEGHE

BE  BEsR TR

B
&R

ETRERAE -HE

R feett - RiEEHE HR

WiHE N ATBURHIRE - ARERA A NN ERLE
FEA KRB TRV HAMR o
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HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

18.

19.

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 18. R—REELENESR
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had interest in the 2024 F 202312 H31 H » AEERNUTEE
following joint venture: EEERES
Proportion of ownership
Place of interests or participating Principal
Name Form of entity establishment Registered capital shares held by the Group activities
FEBESE 2B EER
% 1317 BR 73 AMEAR RS ERGHIL B TEXK
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Hebao (Shenzhen) Information Incorporated The PRC Ordinary, 49% 49% Inactive
Technology Company Limited* RMB20,000,000
e R EEREAERRAR MK H AR HiEgx
AR#20,000,0007T
* English name is for identification purpose. & WY LT E R
As at 31 December 2024 and up to the approval date on these 202412 A31 A R BEEZEGAUHBHRELER
consolidated financial statements, no capital was injected to the joint H - REEBERASELCEIATMES -
venture by the Group.
FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 19. MERERWNE
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TFE T FET
Undiscounted lease payments analysed as: AR ENRDITA
Recoverable within 12 months 1218 A AR K E - 591
Net investment in the lease analysed as: REENFREDTA -
Recoverable within 12 months R 12 (@A RA]4[E - 553
133
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19. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. EEREEWE (&)
Amounts receivable under finance leases based on repayment schedule RIBERREE  RERSRIGRIENT :
is as follows:
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FET
Within one year —FR - 591
Undiscounted lease payments AT RHAE R = 591
Less: unearned finance income B RBREA R E WA - (26)
Present value of minimum lease payments HEAENFEE = 565
Impairment loss as recognised BHERBEEE = (12)
Net investment in lease REERFIRE = 553

Certain machinery of the Group are leased out under finance leases. Al
interest rates inherent in the leases are fixed at the contract date over
the lease terms.

Movements of impairment loss as recognised is as follows:

AEEETHSBDREBEEEHE - BEHRNED
MEZMEREOREAHBIREREE -

EHRZBEBBEZESHMT

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHAT

At beginning of year REA] 12 162
Impairment loss reversed for the year RAFER B HRERBE (12) (146)
Exchange realignment bE 5 A% - 4)
At end of the year RER - 12

During the year, the decrease in net investment in lease mainly
represent recovery of finance lease receivables in according to the
finance lease agreements.

RER  REENFRERS TERREREBER
YR E TR SRR
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19.

20.

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. EEFREEWIE (E)
As at 31 December 2023, the effective interest rates of the above M2023F 12 H31 H @ Lil@EHENERNEXRE
finance leases are charged at 11% per annum and the relevant lease F11% - MR R AR FTE] 32 8947 3,320,000 7 TT Y
contracts entered into of approximately HK$3,320,000 was aged within HERAES YNNI ASFAN - HHE2024F 12 A 31
5 years at the end of the reporting period. During the year ended 31 RIEFE - FIEHESAHEBE -
December 2024, all the lease contracts were expired.
As at 31 December 2023, all the finance lease receivables were secured 2023412 A 31 B » & F &M & FEURIET) LA
by the leased assets and customers’ deposits. The title of the leased EBENTFEREEERM - REEHR - HEEERN
assets will be transferred to the customers with minimal consideration FERREEEREERTES
at the end of the term of leases.
There was no unguaranteed residual value in connection with finance PSR - M EERERS RS AEE
lease arrangements or contingent lease arrangements that needed to ZHERARERFREEZTEZTIER -
be recorded as at the end of the reporting period.
Deposits of approximately HK$232,000 have been received by the AEBBE IR S 4232,000 8 T AEAS T EM
Group to secure certain finance lease receivables and classified into ERWRIAZ A - WHRRELE S 13 PR E R &AL
non-current liabilities based on the final lease instalment due date HESHNRIBASBERERDEE KRR
stipulated in the finance lease agreements. The deposits are non- B oo b4 2023512 A31 H » giEHERWFE
interest bearing. In addition, the finance lease receivables are secured NHEEE(EZZRMEERM) FEER - EABEANR
over the leased assets, mainly machinery leased, as at 31 December BELNBRT  AEBREABEARE  TE5HE
2023. The Group is not permitted to sell, or repledge the collateral of SRR R B E EUGRIEM IR IR G -
the finance lease receivables without consent from the lessee in the
absence of default by the lessee.
At 31 December 2024, there was no finance lease receivables arising MN2024F 12 A31 A - AMHEXEB I EELRAMN
from the finance leasing business. EREWGRIE -
All finance leasing arrangement are denominated in RMB, which is the FIEREHREREHIUAREHE  ARBANER
functional currency of the Group’s entity which engages in the finance BHEXBNASEERRENINGEER - Bt - X&EH
leasing business and accordingly, the Group is not exposed to foreign TeRZINERE -
currency risk.
INVENTORIES 20. F&
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Merchandise M 64,063 25,712
At the end of reporting period, the Group’s inventories were stated at RBERR - AEENFEUKARSR -
cost.
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. EZRHEMEWRE

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT

Receivables at amortised cost comprise: RE SR AT E IR IE B TE ¢
Trade receivables B 5 REWGRIE 334,723 360,993
Less: allowance for impairment losses B R EE B (34,860) (18,980)
299,863 342,013
Other receivables H A e 5K IE 20,576 20,244
Less: allowance for impairment losses B R EE B EE (12,020) (7,745)
8,556 12,499
Deposits b 720 1,300
Prepayments TEFRIE 641 93
1,361 1,393
309,780 355,905

REE R TEHEF60E180H (20234 - 60
Z180 H) W FHEEH - LU TEIIN RS HRLE
ZRHZ DN AEE S ZEBGRIANREDIT ©

The Group generally allows an average credit period of 60-180 days
(2023: 60-180 days) to its trade customers. Set out below the ageing
analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, based on invoice date, at the

end of reporting period.

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
0-30 days 0Z30H 28,337 20,918
31-60 days 31E60H 57,755 24,680
Over 60 days 60 HIA £ 213,771 296,415
299,863 342,013
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21.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group does not charge interest or hold any collateral over these
balances.

The impairment methodology is set out in notes 4(u) and 6(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group assesses
the impairment for its customers based on different group of customers
which share common risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. Details of the credit risk assessment are included in
note 6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that there is no
significant increase of credit risk regarding the outstanding balances of
trade receivables over due for over 60 days as at the end of reporting
period, after carefully considered the payment patterns and credit
history of these customers.

The movements in the impairment loss for trade receivables is set out
below:

21.

85 Rk HE R ()

AR B3 4 A 5% S A BRI A B S A (A o

BT EB RS BTSRRI T 4u) % 6(0) °

ERAEECERBRER -89  XEERETR
BEPRFTEHERPARE  FREAFARRRE
B BRPIRRERNIGHR AT B BIFIEREE S ©
EERBRAHEF B RN G M B IRKMEE6D) ©

ARPEERR  KBEEBZSEPHNFERR
BEEESL  RBEHR - BH0ORNA ENE FEK
RIEAREEERNEE BRI EREEILN -

B 5 RWFORBERRNZBEINT

2024 2023

2024 % 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

THExT FHT

At beginning of year REF 18,980 12,630
Impairment loss recognised for the year RAFEEEHRARRERE 16,457 6,472
Exchange realignment [ 5, 3 5 (577) (122)
At end of year NER 34,860 18,980

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables of the Group are
denominated in the following currencies:

AREE R E RN E S BRI T EEFHE -

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHxT FHT
HKS$ BT 299,137 156,373
usD ETT 726 63,805
RMB N = 121,835
299,863 342,013
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. E5REMERSE (&)

The movement in the allowance for impairment for other receivables is Hib R IE R EREN S BT :
set out below:

Stage 2 Stage 3
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
Stage 1 — not credit — credit
12-month ECL impaired impaired Total
BEER 2 PEER 3
P ER 1 ZHITEHE 2 HITEH
1218 B 7 8 EEEE — EEEE —
FEEE LESERHE FERE Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2023 R2023%F1H1H 310 1,770 - 2,080
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2 R 18 AFEER 2 (310) 310 - =
Impairment loss recognised RAFE D ERN
during the year BEEE 595 5,147 = 5,742
Exchange realignment Rk @) (75) - (77)
At 31 December 2023 and 202312 A31H R
1 January 2024 20241 A1H 593 7,152 - 7,745
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2 ARG 18 AFEEL 2 (500) 500 - -
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ RARFE B R
impairment loss recognised CREEERE),/
during the year VEREY SEi! 9) 4,650 = 4,641
Exchange realignment Ve 5 % 4) (362) - (366)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F 12 A31H 80 11,940 - 12,020
22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 22, RAVEEBERTENESREE
Financial assets at FVTPL include: RATESBEARITENERMEERT
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHAT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, at fair value 2 AT (EE SR EE FHERES 66 126
The fair value of the listed securities is determined based on the quoted EWRBEHZATFEDBEERARMIZEABEE

market bid price.
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23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 23. BITHEBRES
At the end of reporting period, the bank and cash balances of the RIREER - AEE 2 RITRIVE AR TS’
Group are denominated in the following currencies: g :
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
HK$ BIT 209 20,286
RMB AR 3,338 3,887
us$ ETT 25 162
3,572 24,335
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s AR H M B NEE 7B 52 AR B B O BE B TR AR DA R 4
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of B EERMNESIEREHES - A - KEBRF
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations. RO ERENREIMNEEENRITEARE S AHM
However, exchange of RMB into other currencies is permitted by the B o
Group through bank authorised to conduct exchange business.
24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. B RHEMEMRKIE

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHT
(Reclassified)
(EEHHHE

Current R
Trade payables B S HIE 61,963 77,837
Other payables E b FE I 5RE 22,488 61,286
Interest payable TERERIB 10,733 5,928
Security deposit for finance lease receivables RHEHERIRIEZRES - 232
Value added tax payables FEHIEE R 171 194
95,355 145,477
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24,

25.

140

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 24, BESRHEHMEMSRIEE)
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based RGN REZEZAREL 2B S RNFIEZE
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. BT ©
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
0-30 days 02 30H 32,346 33,764
31-60 days 31£60H 564 19,271
Over 60 days 60 B A E 29,053 24,802
61,963 77,837
The average credit period on purchases of goods is 60 days (2023: 60 BET=EEA60R (20234 : 60H ) - ANEER
days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to BB TSRS B IR SR LARE (R P FE R ZUBE R B 5
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe. PR AT o
As at 31 December 2024, approximately HK$17,146,000 (2023: MR2024F12A31A AEBMEMENRELD
HK$55,879,000) of other payables of the Group were denominated 17,146,000 7% 7T (2023 FF : 55,879,000 7T ) 9 LA
in HK$, which is not the functional currencies of the relevant Group JLEHE  MATUIEEEEREREMNINEEE 2K
entities and exposed the Group to the foreign currency risk. EBEEIINER S o
LOAN FROM THE ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY 25. BRAERATER

The loan from the ultimate holding company is unsecured, interest
bearing at fixed interest rate at 9.5% annum and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2024, approximately HK$50,000,000 (2023:
HK$50,000,000) of loan from the ultimate holding company was
denominated in HK$ which is not the functional currency of the relevant
Group entity and exposed the Group to foreign currency risk.

REERARNERRBER  REFFHNEL%
FHERBIRERER -

20245 12A31H L ER QA E XD
50,000,000 JT. (2023 £ : 50,000,000 7T ) J9 bA %
TLEHE - MAB T EEEREENIGEEE 2K
EEEEINERR -
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26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HESE

Minimum lease payments Present value of lease payments

BEHEEMNRK HESHREE
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 F 2023 & 2024 & 2023 %
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT FERT FHAT
Within one year —FR 636 508 593 497
In the second to fifth years, F_EEFAFNA
inclusive (BIEEEMRT) 477 = 466 i
1,113 508 1,059 497
Less: Future finance charges B RREEER (54) (11) N/A R 3E F N/A N3 A
Present value of lease obligations & & EIR(E 1,059 497 1,059 497
Less: Amount due for settlement S, = 7 12 & B A £ £
within 12 months fE& FE (B8R
(shown under current BRBARE)
liabilities) 593 497
Amount due for settlement M12E Az R HEE
after 12 months RIE 466 _
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease ERARNEESGENINETEEEEENXA55625%
liabilities is 5.625% (2023: 5.625%). (20234 : 5.625%) °
At the end of the reporting period, lease liabilities of the Group are RFEER  AEBEHEAEANBTHE -

denominated in HKS.
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27.

142

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

27. SRITRHEMEE

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Bank loan IRITERK 1,597 1,655
Other loans HER 4,992 16,163
6,589 17,818

The above borrowings are repayable as follows: FREEARNUTERERE :
Within one year or on demand —FRFIEERK 6,589 17,818

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings are
denominated in RMB, repayable in one year and bearing a fixed interest
of 9% (20283: 9%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s other loans are denominated in
the following currencies:

M2024F12A31H - XEBRITEEAARKE
B BR—FREERIZETFF =% (2023 F :
9%) T8 -

K2024F 12 A31 8 - AEEHMERUA TS EMEET
=

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

THExT FHT

RMB AR 4,992 15,763
HK$ BT = 400
4,992 16,163

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings are
secured by personal guarantee up to RMB1,500,000, provided by a
director of a subsidiary.

As at both 31 December 2023 and 2024, the Group’s other loans were
unsecured. As at 31 December 2023, these loans bore interest at 8%
per annum and were repayable within one year. However, during the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group defaulted on repayment.
Consequently, as at 31 December 2024, the loans became repayable
on demand and incurred penalty interest at a rate of 0.05% per day.

R2024F 22023 12 A31H » NEBEITEERS
—MBARN —ZESRHEABEARRES ARE
1,500,000 JLYEHK I ©

M 20284F [ 2024F 12 A31H » AEBHHMER
HAEEE - N 2023F 12 A31 B » ZEEFTIRFEF
T8WFTE + WHR—FRIEE - A - NELZE 2024
FI2A3IBLEFE  AEEBERER Bt »
202412 A381 A BERERERER  WEESA
0.05% B E1 8. °
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28.

PROMISSORY NOTES

The Group issued certain unlisted promissory notes bearing interest
at rates ranging from 3% to 4% (2023: 3% to 4%) per annum. The
promissory notes and the accrued interests are repayable upon the
expiry of 12 to 24 (2023: 12 to 24) months period from the date of
issuance. The effective interest rates applied to promissory notes are
ranged from 2.96% to 3.92% (2023: 2.96% to 3.92%). During the
year ended 31 December 2023, a modification gain of approximately
HK$2,272,000 was recognised as a result of extension of repayment
dates.

28.

REBEBTETIEEMALER - REFENT3%
4% (2023 4F : 3% E4%) TR o AN EEREF
BEREARERETAH%E12524(2023F : 12F
24) B A BEIE A EE - HAK ZBRFA N ERF=
T 2.96% %= 3.92% (2023 F : 2.96% 2 3.92%) ° i
EHZE2023F 12 A31 BIEFE - BERER A HAimiE
RIEFT M= 4 2,272,000 4 TT ©

HK$'000

FHAT

At 1 January 2023 ®2023%1 818 35,379
Imputed interest charged EHBRAHEFE 648
Modification 1BE] (2,272)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 7R 2023F 12 31 AKX 2024F1 A1 H 33,755
Issue of new promissory notes BITHRNER 56,250
Imputed interest charged 2RI R ERE 1,551
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12 A31H 91,556
2024 2023

2024 2023 4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

The promissory notes are repayable as follows: A EEBRATERER :

Within 1 year —F R 91,556 -
Over 1 year but within 2 years BR—FEMTENR - 33,755
91,556 33,755

Subsequent to 31 December 2024, the promissory notes of
approximately HK$27,895,000 fell due, which may result to demand for
immediate repayment. On 5 July 2025, the Group reached a preliminary
settlement agreement with the promissory notes holders to settle the
defaulted amounts. Further details regarding the settlement agreement
are disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s promissory notes were unsecured, denominated in HK$
which is not the functional currency of the relevant Group entity and
exposed the Group to foreign currency risk.

FREmZRERAE / £382024

2024412 A31 H & + #727,895,000 % 7T & % X,
ERIIE - TR EBUE BN E K o BR2025F 7
RA5H REEEANZRFAAERN L EEH
# o EERFE - BREERHENE - FHER
A MBRERM T 41 KB -

REBEHFGLRBREER - SUBTTEHE - MBI
FEBREEERBNDEEE  SAKEHRBINER
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29.

30.

144

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The convertible bonds were issued on 24 June 2019. The bonds were
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between
the date of issue of the bonds and 24 June 2023. They were convertible
to an aggregated of 195,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at
HK$0.2 per share.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company and the
holder of the convertible bonds reached an agreement upon the expiry
of the convertible bonds and the conversion right, pursuant to which (i)
the bond interest for 1 January 2023 to 24 June 2025 was waived; and
(i) the outstanding principal and interest amounting to approximately
HK$44,850,000, became interest-free and wholly repayable on 24
June 2025. Accordingly, the Company recalculated the present value
of the convertible bonds and reclassified them as corporate bonds
(note 30). A gain on modification of the convertible bonds amounting to
approximately HK$1,665,000, was recognised in profit or loss.

CORPORATE BONDS

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group issued 4
trenches of unlisted corporate bonds of an aggregate principal amount
of HK$10,000,000 bearing an interest rate of 7% per annum, payable
annually and will be repayable on demand. The effective interest rate
applied to corporate bonds is 10.2%.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the outstanding principal
and interest of the convertible bonds was reclassified as corporate
bonds. Further details are disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

29.

30.

AR R E S

AR E AN 20194F 6 A 24 B 317 - WMESETAH
HZ= 20236 A 24 B 2 B TR - EHHAE
HANAREBE o E5 0 USR8 T
A #851195,000,000 BE A A 7] @A% o

REE2023F12 A31 BIEFE - A E AR (E
HI5H AR TR E S RIRRE S HRER ik - BRIt
()8 %20234F 1 A1 H £20254 6 A 24 A K {& % F
B R(i)REEBAS TR F L4 44,850,000 7% 7t &
AR B RANR202546 A24 AEHEE - Fit - &K
AREF A ERBRELFNREYEFHBALERS
% (FMI5E30) © EFT AR (& % 2 Ueax 47 1,665,000 75
TERBERER -

A

HZE2015F 12 A1 BIEFERN - AREBITAEHE
#%810,000,0008 7T * BEMET7% 5 EH41HIE L
MEES @ FSREINWEREREE - DB
FHEBRFFEAB10.2% °

EE20235 12 A31 BILFER  AHAREFRE
BERSRMEBEFNDERLEES - E—FHBERE
R E BTSRRI TE29 ©

2024 2023

2024 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At 1 January »1A1H 51,238 10,900
Reclassified from convertible bonds (note 29) Br# R EHF BT D (ME29) - 40,860
Interest charged (note 10) E BT E (BFiE10) 2,516 1,758
Repayment BiE (2,000) (2,000)
Interest paid BRFLE (239) (280)
At 31 December M2 A31 8 51,515 51,238
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30. CORPORATE BONDS (continued)

31.

30. ES ()

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET T

The corporate bonds are repayable as follows: PEEHFENATEHREZR :
Repayable on demand or within 1 year REXRNN—FREER 51,515 9,380
Over 1 year but within 2 years A —FEREAN = 41,858
51,515 51,238

As at 31 December 2024, the corporate bonds of approximately
HK$7,656,000 (2023: HK$9,380,000) were defaulted on repayment
and repayable on demand. Subsequent to 31 December 2024, the
corporate bonds of approximately HK$43,859,000 fell due, which may
result to demand for immediate repayment. On 5 July 2025, the Group
reached a preliminary settlement agreement with the corporate bonds
holders to settle the defaulted corporate bonds of HK$51,515,000.
Further details regarding the settlement agreement are disclosed in note
41 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s corporate bonds were unsecured and denominated in
HK$ which is not the functional currency of the relevant Group entity
and exposed the Group to foreign currency risk.

K 2024F 12 31 H +© #7,656,000/% JT (20234 :
9,380,000 L) W HBHFEHRER » WEHEIKRE
KA E - R20245 12 A31 H % » #743,859,00078
T ARIEFDE - AJRE SR ERKAIRER - B
202567 A58  "EBHEHAREHRHEAEKNTS
B - DMELR 51,515,000 8 TTHIE N EES ©
FREBERANE —PHFBERNGEEMBRERMTEH

AEECEES REEIR - LUBTEHE - MBTIALIE
FRSEERNDEEY  SASEEBINERR

SHARE CAPITAL 31. KX
Number of
shares Amount
BOEA it |
000 HK$’000
T FHIT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each SRR EE0.005 8 T H L A%
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 202341818 « 20234128318 »
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 202441 A1 B K&2024F12 A31H 20,000,000 100,000
Number of
shares Amount
RBEE ot |
000 HK$’000
I FHT
Issued and fully paid: BRITRAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each RS EE 0.005 7 JT Y I A%
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 20231 H1H « 2023128318 »
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 2024%F 1 A1 B K&2024F 12 A31H 982,000 4,910
145
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31.

146

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts which include
loan from the ultimate holding company, convertible bonds, promissory
notes, corporate bonds and net of cash and cash equivalents and
equity attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically.
As part of the review, the directors of the Company consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital, and take
appropriate actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure. Based on
the recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt and new share issues.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements
except for the Group in order to maintain its listing on the Stock
Exchange it has to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

The Group receives a report from the share registers periodically
on substantial share interests showing the non-public float and it
demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit throughout the
year.

31.

&N )

AEEHEAEIE S ERRASEANNE RS I HE
& REERECERRERGHRARRERER
B - NEEE R BB RAT A EFARL BT TE -

AEEWE R ERHRFERAK - B BB&EER
RAER - AIARES  AERBEREEES - I
KRR LA EBYWEFRARLAREE ARGER
(BREEETRARER)

ARBEZEHMWAERRE o (R ERE A —
R ARREEEBERKAREERIER A
Rz - SWEREVEE NITB AR B AEBNE RS -
BRARFEZNER  AEEEBEITHENE
EEREEHRBTHRN T A PEELRBERRE -

BAKEREFENERZMMHN Emif - ERRFER
ENBIER25%I) - REEILEZEFINTERR
FEHYARR

REEE MU EIR B R A T A BE AR AR AR
S ANBRIRFRABFHRE - URAHNEFRHEY
ST 25% HIFR 1) ©
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

32. ARARPBARREK

COMPANY
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FHIT
Non-current asset kREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries BV EPNGIE o) 2 - -
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H1th e 718 266 276
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B B A B) A 66,507 71,216
Bank and cash balances IRITRIR S 135 106
66,908 71,598
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables o fth A 5R08 17,147 54,209
Other borrowings HipEE - 400
Loan from the ultimate holding company SRR ARER 50,000 50,000
Promissory notes ACH E 81,490 -
Corporate bonds TEEFHF 51,515 9,380
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERIBI B A RIFIE 118,522 118,527
318,674 232,516
Net current liabilities FBEEREE (251,766) (160,918)
Total assets less current liabilities BEHABERABER (251,766) (160,918)
Non-current liabilities FEREEE
Corporate bonds TEES = 41,858
Promissory notes R IR = 33,755
- 75,613
NET LIABILITIES EEEE (251,766) (236,531)
Capital and reserves EARREE
Share capital % 4,910 4,910
Reserves i (256,676) (241,441)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCY A4 G (251,766) (236,531)
* Represents amount less than HK$1,000. 5D 1,0008 7T °
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 5 July N2025F 7 A5 AKESGIERIRELRETT -
2025.
Chu Kin Wang Peleus
KEE
Director
EF
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33. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

148

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

33. f#fE

() A%KE
AEENFERESHSBREA B REMS
HRERIARGEESZEHRET

Company (b) A7
Equity Foreign
component of currency
Share convertible translation Accumulated
premium bonds reserve losses Total
ARRES o
AR ME HERES RERE E-$i 2 st
(note 33(c)(i)  (note 33(c)(i))  (note 33(c)fii))
(Hf£33(c)))  (Hiz£33()i)  (HiaE33()i)
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET FTAT FAT FTAT FAT
At 31 December 2022 and R2022F 12 A31 B R
1 January 2023 20231818 190,049 6,640 (6,172) (434,037) (243,520)
Profit and total comprehensive 4 A% F & 2 F U 25
income for the year peke] - - - 2,079 2,079
Lapse of convertible bonds AR EELR - (6,640) - 6,640 -
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F 12 A1 B R
1 January 2024 20241 A1H 190,049 - 6,172) (425,318) (241,441)
Loss and total comprehensive  FREE N2 ERX
expense for the year k] - - - (15,235) (15,235)
At 31 December 2024 F2024E12 A 318 190,049 = 6,172) (440,553) (256,676)

Nature and purpose of reserves

()

(i)

Share premium
Share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share
and after deduction of capitalisation issue and issuance
costs of shares.

In accordance with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
the Company’s share premium are distributable in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

Equity component of convertible bonds
The equity component of convertible bonds represents the
value of the unexercised equity component of convertible
bonds issued by the Company recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds
in note 4(n) to the financial statements.

(c) RENMHERAR
0 BiwE
Betnii B s Rz B SR EE 2 (E16 3%
1Tt - SEMBRE AT R AR BT
PRASFTEE £ 2 B

BIBFBERE1IFRRE - ARAH
& s E AR ABRFEA DK

(i)  FIBRRES A A
AR E F R A D IE AR R PTETT
AR ESFZ RITRESRD 2 BE -
HE LRI IR ML 4(n) P8 RE AT 2
WA R 2 & 5t BURTER
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33. RESERVES (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 4(c(iii) to the consolidated financial statements.

34. SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particular of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as 31 December
are as follows:

33. fa#fE (&)

(o) RENMEERAZEGE)
(i)  INEREEE
NS R E DR RN E IS INER I
R FTE £ 2 FTA B X ZRE o BRI
kR A B TS 3R AR B RE 4(o)(il) Pk 2 & 5L
RERIR ©

34. AATNKELF

M12A31H  ARAIEZMBRARNEBBERNT :

Place/Country of Percentage of equity interest
incorporation Issued and fully paid attributable to the Company/
or registration/ share capital/ Proportion of voting power
Name of Company operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BRIV BRTRBERAE/ AAFEERER AL
DRER Tehwd/ AR aHER KRR RERLA TEXH
Direct Indirect
HE GF:
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245  2023%  2024%F  2023%
West Harbour Group Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
LREEBRAT RERAES BRRIET RERR
Bravo Magic Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares - - 100% 100% Inactive
US$50,000
Bravo Magic Holdings Limited RERUES 38 50,000% T Tiegs
Prokit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 - - 100% 100% Trading of nutritional food and
health care products
BEARAT BE LER1ET 2ERMRRER
25
Peak Matrix Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares - - 100% 100% Inactive
US$50,000
Peak Matrix Holdings Limited RERUES 38 50,000% T Tiegs
Sino Top Capital Resources Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Finance leasing
ERERERAT BE LER1ET HERE
Shanxi Sino Top Leasing Limited* (note aThe PRC Ordinary shares - - 100% 100% Finance leasing and trading of
1S$10,000,000 metal and equipment
IWAERREEEARAR (Mita) FTE iR 10,000,000% 7T HEREREELRE
P&

World Channel Development Limited ~ British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1
World Channel Development Limited ~ RBEZEE LER1EL

FREmZRERAE / £382024
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34. SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued) 34. AATHKEAR (E)

150

Place/Country of Percentage of equity interest
incorporation Issued and fully paid attributable to the Company/
or registration/ share capital/ Proportion of voting power
Name of Company operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BV BRTRHERAE KAREERER AL
NAEEH Fd-dip ok gE e EMER FARMEREELA TEXRK
Direct Indirect
H# B
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 203F  2024F  203F
Dailuyang Electronic Commerce Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 - - 100% 100% Trading of nutritional food and
health care products
BRIETAZERAA BE ERRIEL EERERRER
g5
Infinity Financial Group (Holdings) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 - - 100% 100% Inactive
Infinity Financial Group (Holdings) Limited 778 LER1AT TEg!
Rong Shan Capital Resources Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares - - 100% 100% Inactive
HK$10,000
BRIEARERAT BB k10,0004 TEex
Taili Asia Development Co. Ltd. Hong Kong Ordinary shares - - 100% 100% Investment holding
HK$10,000
Taili Asia Development Co. Ltd. BA EER10,0005T RERR
Asia Pacific Kunpeng Finance Leasing ~ The PRC Ordinary shares - - 100% 100% Finance leasing and related
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd." (note a) US$2,000,000 consultancy service
(note b)
TREBRERE(RINERAR A ik 2,000,000% T REREREREARS
(ita) (Hitp)
Shenzhen Qianhai Zhongmao The PRC Ordinary shares - - 100% 100% Inactive
Commercial Factoring Co., Ltd.* RMB40,000
(note a) (note c)
RTABPRAFREARRE  PH BBk TEex
(Hizta) AR 40,0007
(Hztc)
Shenzhen Zhengyuan Supply Chain The PRC (note d) - - 100% 100% Inactive
Co., Ltd." (note a)
FITEREERERRR (Wzta)  HE (Hitd) TEex
Rongyaun Financial Leasing (Shanghai)  The PRC (note g) - - 100% 100% Inactive
Co., Ltd." (note a)
BrRERE( 8 BRAR (Kita) HHE (Hite) TEex

Momentum Financial Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 BHIEFE

34. SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

34.

AT RHE QT (&)

Place/Country of Percentage of equity interest
incorporation Issued and fully paid attributable to the Company/
or registration/ share capital/ Proportion of voting power
Name of Company operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
FMR IR BRTRBERAE KAREERET AL
NEER TENhE/BX AER FARMEREELA TEXK
Direct Indirect
HE B
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024F  203F  2024F  203F
Kashgar Zhituo Information Technology  The PRC Ordinary share - = 51% 51% Provision of consultancy
Co., Ltd.* RMB1,020,500 services
B EHE SRRERAR HE LER RETHARS
AE 1,020,500 7
Shenzhen TransOcean Supply China The PRC Ordinary share - - 100% 100% Provision of consultancy
Management Co., Ltd.* (note a) RMB4,540,000 services
(note )
R RERERERDR (Hita) £ LBk REHARS
AR 4,540,0007C
(Hrzt1)
Shenzhen Rongzheng Yigian Car Rental The PRC Ordinary share - - 51% 51% Finance leasing and related
Co., Ltd* RMB1,100,000 consultancy service
(note g)
AIBESLABREEREART  HE LRk REBEREREARS
AR#1,100,0007C
(Hitg)
Shanwei Rongzheng Yigian Car Rental  The PRC (note h) - - 51% 51% Finance leasing and related
Co., Ltd* consultancy service
WERESLABMEEREART HE (Hzth) HEME RIEFH AR
Shenzhen Dailuyang Cross-border The PRC (note i) - - 100% 100% Trading of nutritional food and
E-commence Co., Ltd.* (note j) health care products
R EREEEERERAA HE (Wsti) 2EAMRRER
(W) g5
Ganzhou Dailuyang Supply Chain The PRC (note k) - - 100% 100% Trading of nutritional food and
Co., Ltd.* health care products
ENTHRFRERERDR (Hitp) +8 (Hetk) SEAMNRERES

*

FREmZRERAE / £382024
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34. SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

152

Note a:

Note b:

Note c:

Note d:

Note e:

Note f:

Note g:

Note h:

Note i:

Note j:

Note k:

Wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC.

The registered capital of Asia Pacific Kunpeng Finance Leasing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd amounted to US$10,000,000 of which
US$8,000,000 remained unpaid up to date.

The registered capital of Shenzhen Qianhai Zhongmao Commercial
Factoring Co., Ltd. amounted to RMB5,000,000 of which
RMB4,960,000 remained unpaid up to date.

The registered capital of Shenzhen Zhengyuan Supply Chain Co., Ltd.
amounted to RMB60,000,000 remained unpaid up to date.

The registered capital of Rongyaun Financial Leasing (Shanghai) Co.,
Ltd. amounted to US$50,000,000 remained unpaid up to date.

The registered capital of Shenzhen TransOcean Supply China
Management Co., Ltd. amounted to RMB$5,000,000 of which
RMB460,000 remained unpaid up to date.

The registered capital of Shenzhen Rongzheng Yigian Car Rental Co.,
Ltd. amounted to RMB$10,000,000 of which RMB8,900,000 remained
unpaid up to date.

The registered capital of Shanwei Rongzheng Yigian Car Rental Co., Ltd.
amounted to RMB$1,000,000 remained unpaid up to date.

The registered capital of Shenzhen Dailuyang Cross-border E-commence
Co., Ltd. amounted to RMB1,000,000 remained unpaid up to date.

Limited liability company (legal person sole investment) established in the
PRC.

The registered capital of Ganzhou Dailuyang Supply ChainCo., Ltd.
amounted to RMB1,000,000 remained unpaid up to date.

34.

P eEa:

B =t b:

P 3 c:

P 3 d:

ffiEe:

F3ES:

FiE o

P 3 h:

B &

LiEEaR

Btk

AT RHE QT (&)

REPBEKIHIMNGEERSE
DABBREAE(RIERRAFMERE

10,000,000 7€ * EH18,000,000F L ES AL ©

YT PR EREERAREMERNBARE
5,000,0007T * HA AR#4,960,0007cESIAZ A ©

RNTERUEEBRAANTMERRARK

60,000,0007C * ESIARZA

MTHEAE(LE)BERAFANEMER R
50,000,000 7T + ES AL o

RYBFHEREEZARRAAETMERSARYE

5,000,0007C * E A AR 460,000 TESHARZAT -

ARYBMESFEHEAREERAFANOEMELBA
R #10,000,0007C * E A R# 8,900,000 7T E 51
RN e

WERBIESFAEHEARTERANFMERAEA
R#1,000,0007C * 25K ©

RYTERFEREFARADNNEMERBARE
1,000,000 7C * ESARZA -

RAPBRTOBREERR CEABE) -

EMTERFRERERARAMNEMERRSARE
1,000,000 7C * ESARZA -
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34. SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued) 34. AATHKEAR ()

TEIIRE A EE TS B EA MGG RS (5
TR ) W BATNER - W ERBEEIIA
SRR AT ST -

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company

eliminations.
Kashgar Zhituo Information Shenzhen Rongzheng Yigian
Technology Co., Ltd. Car Rental Co., Ltd.
Bt ERESRE FYIRIE S RERE
Name £1B BIRAHE BREEATA
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 2023 F 2024 & 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FERT FHET
Principal place of business/ FEEEMT L PRC/PRC PRC/PRC PRC/PRC PRC/PRC
country of establishment ER HE R, HE B
% of ownership interests/voting ~ JEIERR i35 B A 12
rights held by NCI xR/ RERNES 49% 49% 49% 49%
At 31 December: M12H31H -
Current assets MENEE 1,726 3,395 2,841 3,284
Current liabilities REARE (591) 612) (107) (119)
Net assets FEE 1,135 2,783 2,734 3,165
Accumulated NCI RETIEE RS 556 1,364 1,340 1,551
Year ended 31 December: HZ12A31HLLEE :
Revenue WA - - 115 144
Loss &8 (1,583) (66) (327) (1,702)
Total comprehensive loss 2HEEEEEE (1,648) 6) (431) (1,795)
Loss allocated to NCI AL EIEERERABE (808) ) (211) (880)
Net cash (used in)/generated SEE) (FTE),/ PS8
from operating activities REFE = (73) 16 (1,183)
Net cash generated from BEEEENIRE F5E
investing activities - - 1 -
Net cash generated from B BB S F5E
financing activities - N - 651
(Decrease)/Increase in cash and ¥4 BRI & ZEY
cash equivalents (G5 00%: il - (73) 17 (532)
EL&RmERERDE / F52024 153
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 35. mEBRERERWHTE
CASH FLOWS
(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (@) METHELENESEHER
activities
The table set forth below is the detail changes in the Group’s TR BRE EBHESLNAER B EHNFMAE
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and ) BRBEENFEELEH  BMEFDEEDN
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are BEEZEENREEREIRKELRENA
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, SEREHREanERELI B EARE RS
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as FIfSIREeRE -
cash flows from financing activities.
Settlement of
liabilities via
Finance Reclassification issuance of 31
1 January Cash costs  New lease asother promissory  Exchange  December
2024 flows incurred arrangement payables notes realignments 2024
BBRET
2024 BEE ENSER  RAERE 2024%
1B18  HeRE  BHERE  FHERFE  HEEGR GHEE EXEE 128818
(note 10) (note 35(c)(ii)
(Hit10) (K&t 35(c)fi)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET FER TET TET FHR FER FET
Interest payable ERFE 5,028 (1,021) 7,255 - - (1,357) 72 10,733
Loan from the ultimate BIERARNER

holding company (frz#25)

(note 25) 50,000 - = - - = 50,000
Lease liabilties (note 26) ~ TREE & (Hf#26) 497 (667) 21 1,202 - - 1,059
Bank and other FIREMES

borrowings 17,818 (1,878) 149 - (400) (8,515) (585) 6,589
Promissory notes (note 28) A X Z# (3£28) 33,755 5,000 1,551 - 51,250 - 91,556
Corporate bonds (note 30) 2% (M 30) 51,238 (2,239) 2,516 - - - 51,515

159,236 (805) 11,498 1,202 (400) 41,378 (657) 211,452
Finance  Reclassified

1 January costs  as corporate Exchange 31 December
2023 Cash flows incurred bonds  Modification  realignments 2023
2023%F BEE Eiba 2023F
1A1A Hene BBRAE  REEES EH] ERAZ  12A31H

(note 10) (note 9)

(Hri#10) (Hit9)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FET TAT FAR TAT THET TAT
Interest payable ERFIE - - 5,933 - - ) 5,928

Loan from the ultimate REERARNER

holding company (note 25)  (fi:125) 50,000 - - - - - 50,000
Lease liabiliies (note 26) ~ HE & & (H26) 1,139 (688) 46 - - - 497
Bank and other borrowings 34T R EM{EE 13,026 4,919 138 - - (265) 17,818
Convertible bonds — liabilfies T #kE% — &fE

component B 42,525 - - (40,860) (1,665) - -
Promissory notes (note 28) 3 4 (£ 28) 35,379 - 648 - (2,272) - 33,755
Corporate bonds (note 30) (&4 (13 30) 10,900 2,280) 1,758 40,860 - - 51,238

162,969 1,951 8,623 - (3,937) (270) 159,236
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for lease comprise

(b)

HERSRHAE

REEFARERERNFABENLT :

the following:

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAIT
Within operating cash flows REERSTEN 221 498
Within financing cash flows REERSTREN 667 688
888 1,186

These amounts relate to the following: ZERIEMAT AR :
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Lease rental paid BENHEERS 888 1,186

EESRMERERAT / 152024 155
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HZE2024F 12 A31 BILFE

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

156

()

Major non-cash transaction
The Group entered into the following non-cash investing and

financing activities which are not reflected in the consolidated

statement of cash flows:

U

(i)

)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into an extension of a lease contract in which
addition to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
amounting to HKD1,202,000 was recognised.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into an agreement with independent third parties
to settle other payables, interest payables and other
borrowings amounting to HK$31,090,000, HK$1,357,000
and HK$8,515,000 respectively, through the issuance of
new promissory notes with an aggregate principal amount
of HK$51,250,000.

The transaction was assessed in accordance with the
requirements of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and was
determined to constitute a substantial modification of the
original financial liabilities. As a result, the original liabilities
were derecognised and the newly issued promissory notes
were recognised.

The substantial modification resulted in a loss on
extinguishment of financial liabilities by the issuance of
promissory notes amounting to HK$10,288,000, which
was recognised in profit or loss on the date of settlement.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
and the holder of the convertible bonds reached an
agreement upon the expiry of the convertible bonds
and the conversion right, the Company recalculated the
present value of the convertible bonds and reclassified
them as corporate bonds (note 30). A gain on modification
of the convertible bonds amounting to approximately
HK$1,665,000, was recognised in profit or loss.

35. HRERERERAMEE (H)

) EXFEREXRS
AEERILA TRERBRRESGRERER Z
HADRERBELE :

() HZE2024F12 A1 HILEFE » KEE
RIMERAESH - EhmREIMEA
BEEENHEEAE 1,202,000 7T °

(i) HE2024F 12 A31BILLFE  A&H
BB E =R E  BRETAS
#8%8 /551,250,000 7 TT HIFT AL 1 -
AT E b AT RRIE - R RS R A fE
& % Bl £31,090,000% 7T + 1,357,000
77T 1% 8,515,000 7T °

AR GREBEEEVHERELENFIR S
B T AR ZSETTIE - WREEE 21
KRELBEBENERNER - Bt RE
ERRILHER - MAETHALERD
HERER

HZENEUEHBTARLERIER S
BB ENEE%10,288,000/87T © W
EHE RN RSER -

@iy HEZE2023F12A31BILFE AR
BRI AT AR E SR AEM R - A
IR B RERET B - KRB ER
FTEIMRESHRETEHERSE
BEES(KHES0) - BT A BB E
% 2 W 491,665,000 70 B R 1B 2

=)
At ©
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36.

37.

38.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

36.

BARERE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHAT
Capital expenditure in respect of contracted BAMEEHSTENEFTL
commitments for capital contribution to investees — 7&MEH)E ANFI 10,431 10,810
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 37. KEAERH
The Group as lessee AEBEREBEA
The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office and AEBTFEHRAPAERABEEI L EEAAL - BR2024
warehouse. As at 31 December 2024, the portfolio of short-term F12A31 8 ' RHRREEHES BEREMBRERMFE17
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short- hir R HBER Y NS EHEEESEL -
term lease expense disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.
As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding lease commitments relating R2024F12 A31H  BEZSEHAEREABENKRE
to these office and warehouse was approximately HK$51,000 (2023: BREAYEL A51,00008 7T (20234 1 52,0007T) °
HK$52,000).
RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 38. RIKEFGTE

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution plan and
the assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% of relevant costs to the scheme, which contribution is matched by
employees, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately and there were no
forfeited contributions of the MPF Scheme during both years.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary is required to contribute
certain percentage of its payroll to the retirement benefits schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under
the scheme.

There was no forfeited contribution in respect of the defined contribution
plan available at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

FREmZRERAE / £382024

REBAIAREBNEEREELMBTESTE -
WESEA—HEATHENKE - MaEetgng
ERZAARHNESTEAAEBNEESFHSE -
REBIRBRMAARS% Mt EERER - THES
VEBR SR - 1T A A YA _EBR 30,0007 7T °
RIES TR KA R - RME S SN R
R TE SR BIGEK -

ARABFEFR B SZE B A RIRE 8 75 i BT &
BHBERERRAEFFEHKE - FRENHE AR
AREHTNE T B D LRERRENEBIHT . A5
ZETBIMBANRIEFE D - AEBEFERAKENET S
AN - BERRETBIEHRENHK -

R2024 F K 2023F 12 318 + WEA B R EMH-N
BEED-EES
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39.

40.

41.

42.

158

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as balances of related party disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions with its related parties during the year.

Key Management Compensation

Key management mainly represents the Company’s directors. Their
remuneration have been disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2023 as
disclosed in the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023 of
the Company dated 27 March 2024 (the “Annual Report 2023”) have
been reclassified in the consolidated financial statements of this report
to conform with the presentation of the results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

An amount of HK$39,000 previously classified as selling and distribution
expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 in the Annual Report
2023 has been reclassified as administrative and other expenses for
the year ended 31 December 2023 in this Annual Report. Moreover, an
amount of HK$1,178,000 previously classified as other payables for the
year ended 31 December 2023 in the Annual Report 2023 has been
reclassified as interest payable for the year ended 31 December 2023 in
this Annual Report.

In the opinion of the Board, the reclassification made to the comparative
figures has insignificant impact on the Group’s consolidated statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 5 July 2025, the Company entered into settlement agreements with
certain creditors involving issuance of convertible bonds to the creditors
(the “Debt Restructuring”). The Debt Restructuring is subject to
obtaining regulatory body and shareholder approval. Up to the date of
this report, the approval had not been obtained yet.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 5 July 2025.

39.

40.

41.

42,

EBALRS

BRIANAR & AT 2R EL b it 75 4 BR A BA B A L A5 850D
AREBEERBATRFEANT LA TEARS °

TEEEASHME
TEEEASTERANRES  EHFHEREAH
TSIRARIMFE 183 R -

bERHF

NATE B R2024F3 A27 BM B £ 2023612 A
31 HIEFEFR([2023 FF8], ) ik T E = 2023
F12 A1 BIEFEMNE TUHEREFTER AR SN
EMBHRRENDE  URHEAREEHE2024F 12
A31BIEFEMEEZIAR -

SRR 2023 F F | N EREE2023F12 431 A 1L
FEMNHEERDHAZH39,0008TERANFRE
FOBAEE20283F 12 A1 B IEFEMITHEE
MBI o AN - Fe BT 2023 F F D A B H = 2023
F12 431 B L FE &) E th fE {5 IE#9 1,178,000/
TTERAFERENHEAEE2023F 12 A1 BIEF
ERENFE -

EECRA UBREFHNEFIBHALEEEE
202312 A31 BILFEMGFAEMELETK »

mEMBER
MR2025F 7 A5H - ARFIEE TEEALEER
HoOSRABERARTIRBRES((EREA]) -

BB EARISE T W R BRI - BREARRE A
B ARBHARBRS A BHLE -

HAERSHBEHER

R2025F7 A6 0  EEGHERKETIREGS MK
]k o
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Five Year Financial Summary

EFHBERE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial
statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

ATHIAEEBER AR RFENRENEERBER
2 TREEAEAMNEERMBEE  UEEHEENE
5B o

RESULTS £
Year ended 31 December/As at 31 December
HZ12A31BLEE R12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 & 2023 & 2022 & 2021 & 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT FHIT FAT FAT
Revenue WA 630,131 761,781 327,721 651,441 353,958
Cost of sales SHERA (599,278) (711,584) (304,579) (594,357) (329,081)
Gross profit EF 30,853 50,197 23,142 57,084 24,877
Other operating (expense)/income, net  Hfth& & (F%),/
ey (10,450) 8,143 363 672 7,483
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEME A RREER - = (24) - -
Change in fair value of financial assets XAV {EFEBER
at FVTPL/held-for-trading STERSREES
investment BIEEBREMN
N EZS) (60) (68) (137) 182 (68)
Administrative and other expenses THREMRES (29,893) (04,382) (6,054) (30,600) (21,866)
Finance costs BhE B A (11,349) (8,523) (870) (6,436) (5,248)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRAAT (E518), s A (20,899) 25,367 16,420 20,902 5,178
Income tax expense Frg iR (2,382) (6,822) (1,239) (6,091) (258)
(Loss)/profit for the year FA B8R, &R (23,281) 19,545 15,181 15,811 4,920
ltems that may be reclassified HensHioEs
subsequently to profit or loss: EmcIEE -
Exchange differences arising on ERINBIE B EE
translation of foreign operations HOPE 5 2 RE R B Aty
and total other comprehensive ZHEBA (FAX)
income (expense) Feko] (2,616) (2,581) (8,636) 1,654 6,306
Total comprehensive income (expense) ERZ2EUA (FIx)
for the year Rk (25,897) 16,964 6,545 17,465 11,226
Total comprehensive income (expenses) LA T~ A+ E(EEE
attributable to: WA (F) 4858 -
— Owners of the Company — KRRHEA A (24,878) 17,847 6,928 17,204 10,794
— Non-controlling interests — FEIEfRE RS (1,019) (883) (383) 261 432
(25,897) 16,964 6,545 17,465 11,226
EESRMBRERA T/ F52024 159
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LFEUBEBE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE

Year ended 31 December/As at 31 December
HE12A31ALEE MW12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 F 2023 F 2022 F 2021 4F 2020 F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FET T FET FET

TOTAL ASSETS BWEE 385,426 414,741 352,444 366,346 381,022
TOTAL LIABILITIES wmeE (303,449)  (306,867)  (262,185)  (283,132)  (315,761)
NET ASSETS BEE 81,977 107,874 90,259 83,714 65,261
Equity attributable to: AR AT #EE :
— Owners of the Company — KARHAA 80,081 104,959 87,112 80,184 62,980
— Non-controlling interests — FEIEARRE RS 1,896 2,915 3,147 3,530 2,281
81,977 107,874 90,259 83,714 65,261
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